

#### **Bangor University**

**MASTERS BY RESEARCH** 

The Role of MRNIP in Chemoresistance

Jones, Caryl

Award date: 2024

Awarding institution: Bangor University

Link to publication

General rights Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights.

Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study or research.
You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal ?

Take down policy If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.



# PRIFYSGOL BANGOR UNIVERSITY

The Role of MRNIP in Chemoresistance.

Students Name: Caryl Morris Jones

Student Number: 500526988

Supervisor: Dr Christopher Staples

Date: 18/12/2023

Word Count: 15,852

## Declaration

'I hereby declare that this thesis is the results of my own investigations, except where otherwise stated. All other sources are acknowledged by bibliographic references. This work has not previously been accepted in substance for any degree and is not being concurrently submitted in candidature for any degree unless, as agreed by the University, for approved dual awards.

I confirm that I am submitting this work with the agreement of my Supervisor(s).'

'Yr wyf drwy hyn yn datgan mai canlyniad fy ymchwil fy hun yw'r thesis hwn, ac eithrio lle nodir yn wahanol. Caiff ffynonellau eraill eu cydnabod gan droednodiadau yn rhoi cyfeiriadau eglur. Nid yw sylwedd y gwaith hwn wedi cael ei dderbyn o'r blaen ar gyfer unrhyw radd, ac nid yw'n cael ei gyflwyno ar yr un pryd mewn ymgeisiaeth am unrhyw radd oni bai ei fod, fel y cytunwyd gan y Brifysgol, am gymwysterau deuol cymeradwy.

Rwy'n cadarnhau fy mod yn cyflwyno'r gwaith hwn gyda chytundeb fy Ngoruchwyliwr (Goruchwylwyr)

#### Abstract

The maintenance of DNA and genome integrity is essential for life. A complex web of processes ensures faithful inheritance of genetic material. Among the myriad factors involved in regulation of these processes, the recently identified DNA repair protein MRNIP regulates the function of the core DNA repair nuclease MRE11. MRNIP-deficient cells are sensitive to multiple genotoxins, though in contrast, recent work reveals that MRNIP loss leads to resistance to the chemotherapies Gemcitabine and Cytarabine, which are distinct from other anti-neoplastic agents in being directly incorporated into the growing nascent DNA strand during replication. Furthermore, recent work suggests that phosphorylation of MRNIP at S217 may contribute to MRNIP function. The purpose of this project is to confirm and build on these findings to begin to elucidate the mechanisms via which MRNIP regulates chemosensitivity. We conducted a series of survival experiments in WT and MRNIP KO cancer cells following treatment with Gemcitabine, Cytarabine and two other nucleoside analogues. We conducted similar experiments using cells treated with the PARP inhibitor Olaparib, since MRNIP KO cells were previously demonstrated to be sensitive to this agent. We confirm that MRNIP loss causes resistance to Gemcitabine and PARP inhibitor sensitivity and demonstrate that the S217 residue is indeed functional in the regulation of Gemcitabine sensitivity. We also assessed classic markers of DNA damage in Gemcitabine and Olaparib treated MRNIP KO cells and confirmed the role of S217 in mediating MRNIP functionality in DNA damage modulation. We raised an antibody against the S217 phosphopeptide, although were unable to successfully validate the specificity of this antibody. We hypothesise that the phosphorylation of MRNIP S217 plays a role in MRNIP functionality, although it is beyond the scope of this project to understand this role and the importance it holds. In conclusion the results of the project suggest that MRNIP regulates chemosensitivity in an agent-specific manner and that the phosphorylation of MRNIP at S217 is important for MRNIP functionality.

## Acknowledgements

Thank you to my supervisor Dr Chris Staples for helping and supporting me. Thank you to Ellen, Amelia and Laura for showing me the ropes in the lab, to Vi and Vaithe for their friendship and support throughout my masters, and to everyone in the lab for their kindness and advice.

# Table of Contents

The Role of MRNIP in Chemoresistance.	1
Declaration	2
Abstract	3
Acknowledgements	3
Table of Contents	4
Abbreviations	6
1. Introduction	8
1.1 Causes and Statistics.	8
1.2 Hallmarks of cancer	8
1.3 Genome instability in Cancer Pathogenesis	9
1.3.1 Cancer Predisposition Syndromes.	10
1.3.2 Acquired Mutations and Cancer.	12
1.4 DNA Replication, Damage, Repair and Cancer.	13
1.4.1 DNA replication.	13
1.4.2 DNA Replication Stress	13
1.4.3 DNA damage	14
1.4.4 DNA damage markers	14
1.4.5 The replication stress response.	15
1.4.6 PRIMPOL	15
1.4.7 DNA repair	16
1.4.8 The main DNA damage response pathways Error! Bookma	rk not defined.
1.4.9 Homologous recombination.	16
1.4.10 DNA damage tolerance and Post-Replicative Repair	18
1.5 Cancer Treatment	19
1.5.1 Non-Targeted Cancer Medicines.	19
1.5.2 Chain-Terminating Nucleoside Analogues.	20
1.5.3 Alkylating Agents	22
1.5.4 Precision Cancer Medicines.	23
1.5.5 PARP Inhibitors	23
1.6 Purpose of the Investigation	24
1.6.1 MRNIP	24
1.6.2 Preliminary Studies.	25
1.6.3 Focus of the Project.	25
1.6.4 Questions the project will answer.	25

2. Materials and Methods
2.1 Materials Used
2.1.1 siRNA
2.1.2 Antibodies
2.1.3 Solutions / Buffers27
2.1.4 Other Materials
2.2 Methods
2.2.1 Cell Culture
2.2.2 siRNA Transfection
2.2.3 Immunofluorescence
2.2.4 Denaturing IdU Immunofluorescence30
2.2.5 Cell Lysis and Western Blot
2.2.6 MTT Assay
2.2.7 Immunoprecipitation Assay
3. Results
3.1 MRNIP loss leads to Gemcitabine resistance34
3.2 The effect of MRNIP loss on DNA damage markers in response to Gemcitabine treatment. 36
3.3. The role of MRNIP Serine 217 phosphorylation in the cellular response to Gemcitabine39
3.4 The effect of MRNIP loss on the cellular response to Nucleoside Analogue treatment43
3.5 MRNIP loss leads to PARP inhibitor sensitivity
3.6 The effect of MRNIP loss on DNA damage markers in response to Olaparib treatment47
3.7 The role of MRNIP S217 phosphorylation in the response to PARP inhibitor treatment48
3.8 Overview
4. Discussion
4.1 Future Experiments
5. Conclusion
6. References

# Abbreviations AML Acute Myeloid Leukemia

ATM	Ataxia Telangiectasia Mutated
BER	Base Excision Repair
BME	2-Mercaptoethanol
BSA	Bovine Serum Albumin
CLL	Chronic Lymphoid Leukemia
CRC	Colorectal Cancer
CTNA	Chain-Terminating Nucleoside Analogue
DAMPs	Damage-Associated Molecular Patterns
dCK	Deoxycytidine Kinase
dFdCTP	diFluorodeoxycytidine triphosphate (Gemcitabine)
DMEM	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium
dNTP	Deoxyribonucleotide
DSB	Double Strand Break
DTT	Dithiothreitol
EC	Endometrial Cancer
FA	Fanconi Anaemia
F-ara-ATP	9-beta-D-arabinosyl-2-fluoroadenosine triphosphate
FBS	Foetal Bovine Serum
FWT	FLAG-Wild Type
HJ	Holliday Junction
HR	Homologous recombination
HTLF	Helicase Like Transcription Factor
ICL	Interstrand crosslink
К	Lysine
LS	Lynch Syndrome
MMR	Mismatch repair
MRN	MRE11-RAD50-NSB1
MRNIP	MRN Interacting Protein
NA	Nucleoside Analogue
NER	Nucleotide Excision Repair
NHEJ	Non-homologous End Joining
PAMPs	Pathogen-Associated Molecular Patterns
PARP	Poly-ADP-Ribose
PARPi	PARP inhibitor

PBS	Phosphate Buffered Saline
PCNA	Proliferating Cell Nuclear Antigen
PIKK	Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase-related kinases
PRIMPOL	Primase and DNA-directed Polymerase
PRR	Pattern Recognition Receptors
ROS	Reactive Oxygen Species
SDS	Sodium Dodecyl Sulphate
SMARCAL1	SWI/SNF subfamily A-like 1
SSB	Single Strand Break
TBS	Tris Buffered Saline
TLS	Trans Lesion Synthesis
TS	Template Switching
ZRANB3	Zinc Finger RANBP2-type Containing 3

#### 1. Introduction

#### 1.1 Causes and Statistics of Cancer.

Cancer is one of the leading causes of deaths worldwide, killing almost 10 million people each year (Gilbertson, 2011; Torre *et al.*, 2015). There are many risk factors for cancer, such as smoking, obesity and poor diet, as well as genetic factors that determine cancer predisposition (Perrino *et al.*, 2019; Torre *et al.*, 2015). The most common cancers are female breast, colorectal, prostate and lung cancers (Ferlay *et al.*, 2013; Siegel Mph *et al.*, 2023). In 2012 in Europe, these cancers comprised half the European cancer burden, and represent a significant subfraction of the global cancer burden (Ferlay *et al.*, 2013).

#### 1.2 Hallmarks of cancer.

Although cancer is a genetically diverse disease, there are many hallmarks of cancer, which are similar for most cancer types (Hanahan, 2022; Hanahan & Weinberg, 2011). These were first described in a highly cited review published in 2000, which has since been updated and expanded twice in 2011 and 2022 (Hanahan, 2022; Hanahan & Weinberg, 2000, 2011). The hallmarks of cancer are divided into enabling characteristics and hallmark characteristics, with the general notion that enabling characteristics facilitate the development of hallmark characteristics (Hanahan, 2022). The confirmed enabling characteristics are tumourpromoting inflammation and genome instability and mutation, which allow cancers cells to adapt to their environment and favour beneficial traits (Hanahan, 2022; Hanahan & Weinberg, 2011). As more has been discovered about cancer etiology and pathogenesis, the hallmarks have been expanded to encompass improved understanding. Two emerging enabling characteristics include non-mutational epigenetic reprogramming and polymorphic microbiomes (Hanahan, 2022). Hallmark characteristics are traits that most cancer types display, which are beneficial for their survival. Many of these hallmarks facilitate cancer growth and proliferation (Hanahan, 2022; Hanahan & Weinberg, 2000, 2011), such as the ability to evade growth suppressors, a property that allows cancers to grow and avoid negative regulatory signalling networks that limit proliferation (Hanahan & Weinberg, 2011). Likewise, the ability to induce or access vasculature facilitates the generation of a blood supply to the tumour, and the consequent delivery of nutrients and other factors essential to sustain cell growth and viability (Hanahan & Weinberg, 2011). Most cancers also exhibit sustained proliferative signalling which allows the cancer to constantly grow even in the absence of normal extracellular signalling cues (Hanahan & Weinberg, 2011). Other hallmarks include the ability to resist cell death, replicative immortality, and activation of programmes of invasion and metastasis, which collectively allow the tumour to spread to other sites within the body (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2011). Two emerging hallmark characteristics include unlocking phenotypic plasticity, which allows cancer cells, differently from regular terminally differentiated cells to continue to proliferate and grow, and senescent cells, which can allow changes in cell morphology, and allows cells to adapt to stressful environments, therefore making cancer cells more fit for survival (Saxena & Zou, 2022). These hallmarks are often associated with increased tumour survival, and are common to many different cancer types, they are therefore commonly targeted in cancer treatment strategies.

#### 1.3 Genome instability in Cancer Pathogenesis.

Genome stability is essential for life, as DNA is the template for production of all protein and contains factors for the regulation of proliferation and transcription (Tubbs & Nussenzweig, 2017). Genome instability is defined as the presence of an elevated mutational rate, gross chromosomal instability, translocations, inversions, and/or repeat expansions (Tubbs & Nussenzweig, 2017). Although genetic alteration is the driving factor of evolution, mutations are commonly pathogenic, causing diseases such as cancer, which are often associated with age and the progressive accumulation of deleterious mutations (Maslov & Vijg, 2009; Tubbs & Nussenzweig, 2017). Most human cancers exhibit progressive genome instability, which is a crucial enabling factor in cancer pathogenesis. Loss of genome integrity is sometimes attributable to underlying genetic alterations that compromise DNA repair mechanisms, but in the vast majority of cancer cases, increased genome instability arises during pathogenesis via other mechanisms (Mateo et al., 2019; Chatterjee & Walker, 2017). Several cancers arise due to an increased mutational load driven by loss or impaired functionality of a genome maintenance factor, a case in point being the loss of functional BRCA1 or BRCA2 in subsets of ovarian, breast, pancreatic and prostate cancers (Rossing et al., 2019; Varol et al., 2018). BRCA1 and BRCA2 are important DNA repair factors that are crucial for the preservation of genome maintenance (Rossing et al., 2019; Varol et al., 2018).

The role of genome instability in chronic inflammation in cancer is currently under investigation. Genome instability-induced inflammation is thought to occur due to activation of the STING-cGAS signalling pathway, which can trigger a senescence-associated secretion of inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-6 (Barros *et al.*, 2022; McNairn *et al.*, 2019; Rodier *et al.*, 2009). The immune system recognises threats to organism through Pattern Recognition Receptors (PRRs) and facilitates inflammatory responses (Cinat *et al.*, 2021). Mechanisms to recognise possible threats include Pathogen-Associated Molecular Patterns (PAMPs) and Damage-Associated Molecular Patterns (DAMPs) (Cinat *et al.*, 2021; Jounai *et al.*, 2012). While PAMPs recognise external pathogens, DAMPs recognise molecules from within cells and trigger an immune response (Cinat *et al.*, 2021; Jounai *et al.*, 2012). Although these are different mechanisms, the activation of the immune responses is similar, and recognition of these factors causes the immune system to trigger a response, such as phagocytosis,

cytotoxicity, or secretion of factors, in order to protect the organism against pathogens or damaged cells (Cinat *et al.*, 2021). These changes affect the microenvironment and can promote tumour progression (Cinat *et al.*, 2021). One important factor underpinning inflammation-driven tumour progression is the action of tumour-associated macrophages, which facilitate tumour survival and metastasis, as well as suppressing other anti-tumour components of the immune response (Lewis & Hughes, 2007).

#### 1.3.1 Cancer Predisposition Syndromes.

Many germline mutations can predispose individuals to certain forms of cancer.

Heterozygous germline mutations in the tumour suppressors *BRCA1* or *BRCA2* can predispose the individual to breast and ovarian cancer, and this risk increases with age (Paul & Paul, 2014; Varol *et al.*, 2018). *BRCA1* and *BRCA2* promote error-free DNA repair by Homologous Recombination (HR). When a heterozygous mutation carrier develops a mutation in the remaining functional *BRCA* allele, HR becomes ineffective. This is known as the double hit hypothesis (Chau & Wang, 2003; Paul & Paul, 2014; Varol *et al.*, 2018). Eighty per cent of such mutations are point mutations (Varol *et al.*, 2018). Not only does this cause DNA repair to be significantly impacted, but *BRCA* proteins are involved in transcriptional regulation and cell growth control (Varol *et al.*, 2018).

Homozygous germline mutation of the *BLM* gene causes Bloom syndrome (De Voer *et al.*, 2015; Ledet *et al.*, 2019; Schayek *et al.*, 2017). This is characterised by photosensitivity and growth deficiency, as well as cancer predisposition (De Voer *et al.*, 2015; Ledet *et al.*, 2019). The *BLM* gene encodes a RecQ DNA helicase, which is important in HR and in suppression of genetic exchange (De Voer *et al.*, 2015; Ledet *et al.*, 2019). The molecular function of *BLM* is DNA unwinding and 5' long-range resection of Double Strand Breaks (DSB)-adjacent DNA to facilitate repair (Ledet *et al.*, 2020). Loss of *BLM* functionality causes elevated sister chromatid exchange, which leads to an increase in genome instability, and an increased likelihood of cancer (Ledet *et al.*, 2019). It is unclear whether heterozygous mutation carriers are at an increased risk for cancer (Ledet *et al.*, 2019; Schayek *et al.*, 2017).

Ataxia Telangiectasia is an autosomal recessive disease, characterised by progressive cerebellar degeneration, telangiectasia, immunodeficiency, premature aging, and cancer predisposition (Jackson, 1995; Rothblum-Oviatt *et al.*, 2016). Homozygous mutation in the *Ataxia Telangiectasia, Mutated (ATM)* gene causes genome instability due to defective cellular signalling in response to DSBs (Rothblum-Oviatt *et al.*, 2016). Individuals with heterozygous mutation are at an approximately 25% increased lifetime risk for cancer development, particularly lymphomas and leukemias in patients younger than 20, and breast, liver and

gastric cancers in older adults (Jackson, 1995; Rothblum-Oviatt *et al.*, 2016). Individuals who have a heterozygous mutation in the ATM gene are generally not affected by the same symptoms as patients of the disease, but they are still at an increased risk of cancer, particularly breast with female carriers with a 2.3-fold increased risk, and gastrointestinal tract cancers (Jackson, 1995; Rothblum-Oviatt *et al.*, 2016). Patients with a homozygous mutation are a 100 times more likely to develop cancer than age-matched controls (Thompson *et al.*, 2005).

Fanconi Anaemia (FA) is a chromosomal instability disorder caused by germline mutations in any of the 23 *FA* genes (Nepal *et al.*, 2017; Woodward & Meyer, 2021). The disease is characterised by early onset of aging, severe bone marrow failure and cancer predisposition (Nepal *et al.*, 2017; Woodward and Meyer, 2021). Individuals with FA develop acute myeloid leukemia (AML) at a 700-fold higher incidence than the general population, and patients are also at a 50-fold higher risk of developing head and neck, oesophageal, anal and gastrointestinal cancer (Nepal *et al.*, 2017). The *FA* genes encode for proteins active in the FA pathway (Nepal *et al.*, 2017; Woodward and Meyer, 2021). This pathway is activated by DNA damage, usually as a result of DNA crosslinking, and acts to repair the lesion and maintain genomic stability (Kottemann & Smogorzewska, 2013; Nepal *et al.*, 2017). The FA disease, since the incorrect repair of DNA crosslinks leads to genome instability (Kottemann & Smogorzewska, 2013; Nepal *et al.*, 2017; Woodward & Meyer, 2021).

Lynch Syndrome (LS) is caused by germline mutations in one of four DNA mismatch repair (MMR) genes, with a prevalence of 1 in 200 (Seth *et al.*, 2018). LS leads to cancer predisposition, particularly colorectal (CRC) and endometrial cancer (EC) (Biller, Syngal & Yurgelun, 2019; Seth *et al.*, 2018). Three per cent of patients with CRC and 1.8% of patients with EC suffer from LS (Biller, Syngal & Yurgelun, 2019). LS also increases the lifetime risk of other cancers, such as ovarian, stomach, and pancreas (Biller, Syngal & Yurgelun, 2019). The underlying molecular phenotype is known as microsatellite instability, due to accumulation of DNA length altering mutations at microsatellites; these are used to screen individuals for the disorder (Biller, Syngal & Yurgelun, 2019). LS also causes a 100- to 1000-fold increase in mutation rate, causing genomic instability and an increased risk for cancer development (Seth *et al.*, 2018). The disorder also causes a reduced susceptibility to apoptosis, as the MMR pathway plays an important role in recognising DNA damage and initiating apoptosis, again increasing the likelihood of cancer (Seth *et al.*, 2018).

There are many more cancer predisposition syndromes, which lead to an increase in the likelihood of specific cancers, such as the PTEN hamartoma tumour syndrome, Li-Fraumeni syndrome, Cowden syndrome, Peutz-Jeghers Syndrome and many more (Correa, 2016; Yehia & Eng, 2021; Hanssen & Fryns, 1995; Wu & Krishnamurthy, 2022).

#### 1.3.2 Acquired Mutations and Cancer.

Most cancers are caused by acquired mutations in specific genes, for example gain of function mutations in genes responsible for controlling cell proliferation.

The Ras gene family is the most frequently mutated in cancer (Moore *et al.*, 2020). It is estimated that ~19% of patients with cancer have a mutation in a Ras gene (Prior *et al.*, 2020). There are 3 Ras genes, *HRAS*, *NRAS*, *KRAS* (Prior *et al.*, 2020). *KRAS* mutations are known to drive at least three cancer types: lung, colorectal and pancreatic cancer (Moore *et al.*, 2020). Ras proteins transduce signals from cell surface receptors to the nucleus to drive growth-promoting transcriptional programmes (Moore *et al.*, 2020). They control cell functions such as proliferation, survival, and differentiation (Moore *et al.*, 2020; Prior *et al.*, 2020). Ras becomes activated when bound to GTP and can activate a range of downstream targets (Moore *et al.*, 2020; Prior *et al.*, 2020). There are often distinct mutation patterns in specific cancer types in the Ras gene affected, leading to gain-of function mutations, which leads to Ras being more effective at binding GTP (Prior *et al.*, 2020). Different mutations affect Ras to different extents, and differences in patient survival depend on the specific mutation present in the Ras gene (Prior *et al.*, 2020).

The *TP53* gene is mutated in over 50% of human cancers (Lane & Lain, 2002; Mantovani *et al.*, 2019; Zhang *et al.*, 2020). p53 mutations are present in almost all types of human cancers ( Zhang *et al.*, 2020). p53 is a transcription factor, and an important tumour suppressor, which acts by binding to DNA and regulating target genes (Mantovani *et al.*, 2019; Zhang *et al.*, 2020). It has important roles in cellular functions such as apoptosis, cell cycle arrest, and DNA repair, through which it helps maintain a healthy genomic profile and suppress tumorigenesis (Mantovani *et al.*, 2019; Zhang *et al.*, 2020). The most common p53 mutations identified in cancer are missense mutations, which affect the DNA-binding ability of p53 (Zhang *et al.*, 2020). However, p53 can also develop gain-of-function mutations, which cause the protein to become oncogenic and promote cancer progression (Dittmer *et al.*, 1993)

#### 1.4 DNA Replication, Damage, Repair and Cancer.

#### 1.4.1 DNA replication.

DNA replication is essential for life (Ekundayo & Bleichert, 2019). High fidelity replication is a

necessity, to preserve the stability of the genome (Ekundayo & Bleichert, 2019; Cortez, When errors 2019). occasionally arise. replication-coupled repair mechanisms are in place to correct these and maintain the integrity of the genome (Cortez, 2019). To combat these erroneous events, DNA replication is tightly controlled and regulated by many factors, ensuring that DNA replication only takes place once within a cell cycle to avoid polyploidy and aneuploidy (Ekundayo & Bleichert, 2019). DNA replication is also intricately linked to DNA repair (Hübscher, 2009). There are three stages of DNA replication: initiation, elongation and termination (Figure 1). Initiation is when DNA replication starts at discrete sites known as replication origins (Ekundayo & Bleichert, 2019). The replisome is assembled on the DNA in a bidirectional manner (Ekundayo & Bleichert, 2019). The elongation phase includes the movement of the replisome, which travels with the replication fork in both directions, synthesising DNA using the parental strands as templates (Ekundayo & Bleichert, 2019). Termination occurs when two



Figure 1- **DNA replication** (Dewar & Walter, 2017). Depiction of the stages of DNA replication. Initiation involves the beginning of DNA replication from discrete sites. Elongation involves the replisome moving along the DNA, synthesising new DNA using the parental strand as a template. Termination occurs when two replication forks converge and leads to the completion of DNA replication.

converging replication forks meet, bringing DNA replication to an end (Dewar & Walter, 2017). At this stage the DNA replication machinery is disassembled, and the daughter strands are resolved (Dewar & Walter, 2017; Moreno & Gambus, 2020).

#### 1.4.2 DNA Replication Stress.

Replication stress is known as any alteration to replication fork progression or fidelity (Saxena & Zou, 2022). DNA replication stress commonly leads to genome instability, which contributes to tumorigenesis (Saxena & Zou, 2022). There are many causes of replication stress, including direct barriers to the replication fork such as DNA lesions, regions that are difficult to replicate, depletion of nucleotide pools, and oncogene activation (Saxena & Zou, 2022).

DNA repair proteins can also contribute to DNA replication stress, as intermediates from these processes can act as barriers to the replication fork, interrupting DNA replication (Saxena & Zou, 2022).

#### 1.4.3 DNA damage.

Maintaining the integrity of DNA is imperative for organismal survival (Carusillo & Mussolino, 2020). DNA damage is a frequent occurrence in most cells, and this damage has the potential to threaten genome integrity and cell viability, leading to cell death or cancer (Basu, 2018; Carusillo & Mussolino, 2020; Jackson & Bartek, 2009). Endogenous sources of damage include base misincorporation during DNA replication, formation of topoisomerase-DNA complexes, spontaneous base deamination and oxidative damage (Chatterjee and Walker, 2017). Exogenous damage can be caused by ionizing or ultraviolet radiation, exposure to toxins or environmental stresses and anti-cancer medicines (Chatterjee and Walker, 2017).

There are different forms of DNA damage (Jackson and Bartek, 2009). Single Strand Breaks (SSBs) arise commonly from processes in the cell such as topoisomerase malfunction (Jackson and Bartek, 2009). DSBs occur less frequently and are more detrimental to cell health as they are less easily repaired (Jackson and Bartek, 2009).

#### 1.4.4 DNA damage markers.

DNA damage within the cell activates many pathways to efficiently repair the lesion and preserve genome integrity (Kuo & Yang, 2008). These processes often cause changes in surrounding molecules or the recruitment of a wide range of different proteins to the area of DNA damage (Kuo and Yang, 2008). As such, these changes in can be used as DNA damage markers to visualize sites and extent of DNA damage (Kuo and Yang, 2008).

An example of this is γH2AX. After DNA damage occurs, the histone H2AX is phosphorylated by ATM or another phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase-related kinase (PIKK) such as ATR or DNA-PK, depending on the nature of the lesion (Kuo and Yang, 2008). H2AX is a variant of the H2A protein family (Kuo and Yang, 2008). γH2AX phosphorylation is responsible for the localisation of DNA repair proteins to DNA damage sites (Kuo and Yang, 2008). γH2AX foci can be used as a DSB marker (Kuo and Yang, 2008).

Another marker used for assessment of the DNA damage response is *RAD51* (Wassing & Esashi, 2021). This is a protein involved in Homologous Recombination (HR) and is used as a marker of HR in immunofluorescence experiments (Wassing and Esashi, 2021). *RAD51* is loaded onto the DNA for initiation of HR, and it promotes the recombination process by allowing strand invasion of the resected ssDNA end of the DSB to use the sister chromatid as a template to repair the DNA lesion (Wassing and Esashi, 2021).

#### 1.4.5 The replication stress response.

The cellular response to DNA replication stress varies dependent on the cause of the replication stress, but the overall goal is to restart replication to preserve genome stability (Gaillard *et al.*, 2015; Saxena & Zou, 2022). There are a range of important cell responses to replication stress: these include replication fork remodelling, activation of the S-phase checkpoint to prevent the cell from moving through the cell cycle with damaged DNA, and engagement of DNA repair or tolerance pathways to correct the lesion (Gaillard *et al.*, 2015; Saxena & Zou, 2022).

Fork remodelling is a way for the cell to regulate fork speed and allow time for DNA damage repair to take place, as well as allowing forks to bypass barriers (Berti *et al.*, 2020; Gaillard *et al.*, 2015; Saxena & Zou, 2022). There are many proteins which facilitate fork reversal including SWI/SNF subfamily A-like 1 (SMARCAL1), Zinc Finger RANBP2-type Containing 3 (ZRANB3), and Helicase Like Transcription Factor (HTLF) (Berti *et al.*, 2020; Saxena & Zou, 2022). *RAD51* is also required for fork reversal. REQ1 is responsible for resolving reversed forks, and is inhibited by PARP1 (Saxena & Zou, 2022). Reversed forks are protected by proteins such as *BRCA1*, *BRCA2* and *RAD51* to prevent DNA degradation mediated by the DNA repair nucleases MRE11 and EXO1 (Gaillard *et al.*, 2015; Saxena & Zou, 2022).

DNA damage Tolerance mechanisms allow lesions to be bypassed to ensure successful replication and allow the cell to progress through the cell cycle, despite challenges to replication fork progression (Saxena & Zou, 2022; Zeman & Cimprich, 2014). These mechanisms are highly evolutionarily conserved and are essential to ensure timely DNA replication within cells (Tirman, Cybulla, *et al.*, 2021).

#### 1.4.6 PRIMPOL.

One important DDT mechanism is repriming, which is performed by the Primase and DNAdirected Polymerase (PRIMPOL) (Saxena & Zou, 2022; Tirman, Cybulla, *et al.*, 2021). PRIMPOL levels in the cell are relatively constant throughout the cell cycle, however PRIMPOL binding to chromatin increases after treatment with genotoxic agents (Tirman, Cybulla, *et al.*, 2021). PRIMPOL recruitment to chromatin following DNA damage is mediated by RPA (Guilliam *et al.*, 2015; Tirman, Cybulla, *et al.*, 2021). PRIMPOL possesses both primase and polymerase functions and is an important DNA damage tolerance factor (Tirman, Cybulla, *et al.*, 2021; Wan *et al.*, 2013). PRIMPOL generates new DNA primers after a DNA lesion on an undamaged template (Tirman, Cybulla, *et al.*, 2021). PRIMPOL is a highly error-prone polymerase, with an error rate of ~10–4 errors per nucleotide incorporated (Keen *et al.*, 2014; Tirman, Cybulla, *et al.*, 2021). The processivity of PRIMPOL is usually limited to four nucleotides, as PRIMPOL has a self-limiting mechanism, where the ZnF domain of PRIMPOL binds to ssDNA upstream of the catalytic core, and is linked by a flexible linker protein, limiting how far PRIMPOL can move along the DNA (Keen *et al.*, 2014; Tirman, Cybulla, *et al.*, 2021). Repriming by PRIMPOL after a DNA lesion leaves a ssDNA gap, which is filled in by post-replicative repair mechanisms (Saxena & Zou, 2022; Tirman, Cybulla, *et al.*, 2021; Zeman & Cimprich, 2014).

#### 1.4.7 The main DNA damage response pathways.

DNA repair processes are essential for responding to the constant DNA damage experienced by the cell (Chatterjee and Walker, 2017). Because DNA damage is detrimental to cell survival, a number of damage-specific mechanisms have evolved (Chatterjee and Walker, 2017). There are five main DNA damage response pathways which are active in different cell cycle stages (Chatterjee and Walker, 2017). BER is a mechanism that fixes small base lesions (Krokan & Bjørås, 2013). These do not significantly distort the structure of the DNA and are usually caused by deamination, oxidation or methylation (Krokan and Bioras, 2013). This type of damage can be caused by spontaneous decay of the DNA, or environmental factors (Krokan and Bjoras, 2013). NER functions to remove bulky lesions from the DNA (Schärer, 2013). This form of damage can occur because of exposure to ultraviolet light or certain mutagens (Schärer, 2013). MMR is a mechanism used to correct mismatched nucleotides in the DNA to preserve genome stability (Fishel, 2015). This type of damage can occur because of polymerase misincorporations, or physical or chemical damage to nucleotides (Fishel, 2015). HR is a process used to repair breaks in the DNA and is particularly important when the DNA suffers a DSB (Wright et al., 2018). This mechanism allows the broken strand to invade and copy information from a homologous chromosome or sister chromatid to fix the DNA double strand helix with the correct information and maintain genome stability (Wright et al., 2018). NHEJ is a more direct DSB repair mechanism (Zhao et al., 2020). The ends of the breaks are processed, and then directly re-ligated, although this mechanism is considered error-prone compared to HR (Zhao et al., 2020).

1.4.8 Homologous recombination.

Homologous Recombination (HR) functions to facilitate the faithful repair of DNA DSBs (Orhan et al., 2021). NHEJ is active throughout the cell cycle, and repairs the majority of DSBs, NHEJ is, however error-prone an mechanism, and can lead to sequence alterations chromosomal and aberrations. which can increase cancer risk (Her & Bunting, 2018). HR competes with NHEJ and is active in both the S and G2 phases of the cell cycle, when homologous templates can be found in close proximity to the site of damage (Her & Bunting, 2018; Orhan et al., 2021). HR employs the sister



Figure 2- **Homologous Recombination** (Yamamoto & Hirasawa, 2022). The process of HR is initiated by the MRN complex, which is involved in sensing DSBs and tethering damaged DNA ends for protection, followed by processing of the DNA ends to leave 3' overhangs. The ssDNA left is coated by RPA, before BRCA1 is recruited. Other factors are then subsequently recruited and RAD51 is loaded onto the DNA overhangs, leading to formation of nucleofilaments that facilitate strand invasion. Strand invasion leads to formation of a 4-way Holliday Junction, which is then resolved with or without crossover.

chromatid, (or if this is unavailable, the homologous chromosome) as a template for accurate DNA repair (Orhan *et al.*, 2021; Yamamoto & Hirasawa, 2022). DSBs can be lethal to a cell, HR is essential for cellular and organismal viability (Wright *et al.*, 2018; Yamamoto & Hirasawa, 2022). The MRE11-RAD50-NBS1 (MRN) complex plays an important role in HR. This complex is involved in sensing DSBs. RAD50 is responsible for tethering the damaged DNA ends, while the exo- and endonuclease activities of MRE11 drive resection of break-adjacent DNA, which commits the cell to DSB repair by HR. As such, HR is also dependent on the phosphorylation of the MRE11 cofactor CtIP by Cyclin Dependent Kinases, short-range MRE11-dependent end resection, prior to bulk unwinding and resection by the nuclease DNA2 and the helicase BLM (Figure 2) (Her & Bunting, 2018; Wright *et al.*, 2018). This process generates 3' overhangs on the DNA (Wright *et al.*, 2018), following which the resultant ssDNA is coated with the single

strand binding protein RPA (Figure 2). *BRCA1* is rapidly recruited to DSBs, where it promotes resection and the recruitment of other DNA damage response factors such as RAP80 and Abraxas (Yamamoto & Hirasawa, 2022). *BRCA2* mediates *RAD51* loading onto the resected DNA ends, forming nucleofilaments that facilitate strand invasion and homology searching (Yamamoto & Hirasawa, 2022). Post-strand invasion, homologous DNA is used as a template for DNA synthesis. This forms a 4-way DNA Holliday Junction (HJ), which can resolve with or without crossover by HJ resolvases or dissolvases (Yamamoto & Hirasawa, 2022). During this process the kinase ATM is also activated in an MRE11-dependent manner, driving DNA damage checkpoint activation.

#### 1.4.9 DNA damage tolerance and Post-Replicative Repair.

Replication polymerases have high fidelity and accuracy, and as such they are prone to stalling when they encounter a lesion in the DNA (Branzei & Psakhye, 2016). This can be detrimental to the cell, as the timely replication of DNA is important to maintain cell viability. To complete replication, the cell must tolerate these lesions and continue replication, leaving the lesions to be repaired by a different mechanism (Branzei & Psakhye, 2016). The primary mechanisms of relevance to this thesis are Trans Lesion Synthesis (TLS) and Template Switching (TS) (Branzei & Psakhye, 2016).

TLS is considered error-prone, while TS is considered error-free, however TS can introduce errors when a homologous template is not available, and so dysregulation of either pathway can be detrimental to the cell (Branzei & Psakhye, 2016). The choice between TS and TLS is dictated by ubiquitination of Proliferating Cell Nuclear Antigen (PCNA) at lysine (K) site K164 (Bainbridge *et al.*, 2021; Branzei & Psakhye, 2016; Ler & Carty, 2022). Mono-ubiquitination is performed by the ubiquitin ligase RAD18 in a complex with the RAD6 ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme (Branzei & Psakhye, 2016; Branzei & Szakal, 2016; Ler & Carty, 2022). This mono-ubiquitination initiates interaction with TLS polymerases (Branzei & Psakhye, 2016). Poly-ubiquitination is again initiated by the RAD6/RAD18 complex, which then interacts with the UBC13-MMS2 complex to extend the mono-ubiquitin modification to poly-ubiquitin chains. Poly-ubiquitination of PCNA initiates TS (Bainbridge *et al.*, 2021; Branzei & Psakhye, 2016).

TLS is a mechanism to bypass DNA lesions at which a replicative DNA polymerase would stall (Chen *et al.*, 2022; Chun & Jin, 2010). This mechanism is considered error-prone and is performed by low-fidelity polymerases (Chun & Jin, 2010). These polymerases have less stringent active sites, allowing them to accommodate DNA lesions and continue replication (Chen *et al.*, 2022; Chun & Jin, 2010). In eukaryotic cells, TLS is carried out by Y-family polymerases, and these all

function at sites of DNA damage, with each specialising in repair or filling of different types of lesions (Chun & Jin, 2010). TLS occurs either directly at the replication fork or behind the fork at ssDNA gaps introduced by repriming DNA synthesis (Ler & Carty, 2022). TLS polymerases are recruited to sites of DNA lesions via mono-ubiquitination of PCNA (Ler & Carty, 2022). Although TLS is a way for the cell to maintain its ability to replicate DNA, this error-prone mechanism has been implicated in causing base misincorporations, causing mutations which can even drive cancer development or resistance to cancer therapy (Chen *et al.*, 2022; Ler & Carty, 2022). Another mechanism via which TLS can contribute to anti-cancer drug resistance is through dysregulation of the TLS pathway, either by over-expression of regulatory proteins, such as RAD18 or through TLS polymerase levels themselves (Ler & Carty, 2022).

TS is a homology-dependent damage tolerance mechanism which uses a homologous sequence to bypass or repair a DNA lesion, either directly at the replication fork or via post-replicative repair (Ler & Carty, 2022). TS is initiated via poly-ubiquitination of PCNA and is preferentially active in early S-phase (Bainbridge *et al.*, 2021; Branzei & Szakal, 2016; Ler & Carty, 2022). TS is considered error-free as it employs a homologous template and does not generally introduce errors into the DNA (Bainbridge *et al.*, 2021; Ler & Carty, 2022). The sister chromatid junction that is formed must be resolved by BLM, TOP3α and RNI1/2 before replication can continue (Bainbridge *et al.*, 2021).

While TLS can traverse a lesion or fill in gaps during post-replicative repair, TS is a mechanism of lesion bypass dependent on strand invasion event.

#### 1.5 Cancer Treatment.

Decades of intensive research mean that most cancer patients can expect a course of treatment that will considerably extend their life, and in some cases be curative. Chemotherapy, radiotherapy and immunotherapy can be employed either as monotherapy, or as part of a broader combinatorial regimen (Amjad *et al.*, 2023; DeVita & Chu, 2008).

#### 1.5.1 Non-Targeted Cancer Medicines.

Radiotherapy has been widely used in cancer therapy since the 1960s, and chemotherapy was soon used in combination to reduce the likelihood of metastasis and recurrence (Amjad *et al.*, 2023; DeVita and Chu, 2008). Traditional cytotoxic cancer therapies are not completely specific for cancer cells, and frequently cause serious side-effects such as immunosuppression, mucositis, nausea, vomiting, diarrhoea, infertility, nephrotoxicity, neurotoxicity and myelosuppression (Amjad *et al.*, 2023; Zhang *et al.*, 2022).

Traditional therapies inhibit cell proliferation, cancer growth and metastasis, and cause cancer cell death by many different mechanisms, such as by causing irreversible DNA damage,

stalling replication forks, targeting RNA or protein formation, or inducing apoptosis (Amjad *et al.*, 2023; Zhang *et al.*, 2022; Mokhtari *et al.*, 2017). One treatment is rarely enough to see results, as only a fraction of cells will be affected, therefore repeated treatments are often required to see an effect (Amjad *et al.*, 2023). Often, cancer cells develop drug resistance rapidly to repeated treatment, and so combination chemotherapy is used to combat this (Amjad *et al.*, 2023).

#### 1.5.2 Chain-Terminating Nucleoside Analogues.

Gemcitabine is а chemotherapy commonly used in the treatment of a wide range of solid tumours including ovarian, bladder. non-small-cell lung. pancreatic and breast cancer (Miao et al., 2019; Pandit & Royzen, 2022). lt is а pyrimidine nucleoside analogue which is taken up by the cell via nucleoside transporters. Gemcitabine is then converted in the cell to its active triphosphate form (dFdCTP) by Deoxycytidine Kinase (dCK) (Miao et al., 2019; Mini et al., 2006). During DNA synthesis, dFdCTP competes with deoxycytidine triphosphate to be incorporated into the DNA (Figure 3) (Mini et al., 2006; Jones al., 2014). et Gemcitabine functions via masked-chain termination,



Figure 3- Intracellular Metabolism of Gemcitabine. (Derissen et al., 2018). Gemcitabine (dFdC) is taken into the cell by Human Nucleoside Transporters (hNTs). Once in the cell, Gemcitabine is phosphorylated by deoxycytidine kinase and converted to a monophosphate form (dFdCMP), which is then phosphorylated by pyrimidine nucleoside monophosphate kinase (UMP-CMP) to its diphosphate form (dFdCDP), before finally being phosphorylated by Nucleoside diphosphate kinase to its active triphosphate form (dFdCTP). This final triphosphate form is incorporated into the DNA, causing stalling of the replication fork.

(Figure 4) meaning once it is incorporated into the DNA, it allows addition of a limited number of nucleotides, leading to nucleases being unable to remove the Gemcitabine to allow continued DNA synthesis (Mini *et al.*, 2006). Stalled replication forks can escalate to DSBs

upon further nucleolytic processing or collapse, which is toxic to the cell (Jones *et al.*, 2014). Gemcitabine also inhibits ribonucleoside reductase, leading to depletion of cellular deoxyribonucleotide (dNTP) pools, causing inhibition of DNA synthesis and cell death (Mini *et al.*, 2006). Gemcitabine is also thought to kill cancer cells indirectly by causing accumulation of HR intermediates, leading to DSB formation (Jones *et al.*, 2014). When stalling of the replication fork occurs as a result of gemcitabine treatment, the HR factors *RAD51* and *BRCA2* are recruited to the chromatin at the site of DNA damage, as they are responsible for recovery of the replication fork by mediating restart (Jones *et al.*, 2014). However, after gemcitabine treatment, these factors have been observed to inhibit fork progression and cause DSBs (Jones *et al.*, 2014). This inhibition of DNA synthesis eventually leads to p53 independent apoptosis (Jones *et al.*, 2014).



Figure 4- **Mechanisms of Action of Gemcitabine**. (De Sousa Cavalcante & Monteiro, 2014). Gemcitabine has different mechanisms of action. (A) The most important is its chain terminating activity, where dFdCTP gets incorporated into the DNA, only allowing the addition of limited nucleotides after, leading to masked-chain termination. (B) Gemcitabine also inhibits Ribonucleotide Reductase, leading to a disruption of the dNTP pool in the cell.

Cytarabine is a nucleoside analogue, used in the treatment of certain blood cancers (Chhikara & Parang, 2010; Faruqi & Tadi, 2022); (Löwenberg *et al.*, 2011). Similar to gemcitabine, it is a pyrimidine analogue and is converted to its active triphosphate form in the cell where it then competes with cytidine for incorporation into genomic DNA (Faruqi and Tadi, 2023; Shepshelovich *et al.*, 2015). The sugar moiety then prevents the DNA molecule from rotating, which in turn inhibits DNA replication (Faruqi and Tadi, 2023).

Fludarabine is currently the most commonly used purine analogue employed to treat Chronic Lymphocytic Leukaemia (CLL), although it also displays immunosuppressive activity (Lenz *et al.*, 2004; Rodriguez, 1994). This drug is a derivative of adenine arabinoside monophosphate, an antiviral agent (Rodriguez, 1994). It is converted to the triphosphate form, 9-beta-D-arabinosyl-2-fluoroadenosine triphosphate (F-ara-ATP), in the cell and competes with deoxyadenosine triphosphate to be incorporated into genomic DNA (Lenz *et al.*, 2004; Rodriguez, 1994). Fludarabine then leads to inhibition of DNA synthesis, leading to cell death (Lenz *et al.*, 2004; Rodriguez, 1994). F-ara-ATP inhibits ribonucleotide reductase, DNA ligase and DNA primase (Lenz *et al.*, 2004).

Clofarabine is a second-generation purine analogue (Tiley & Claxton, 2012; Zhenchuk *et al.*, 2009). It is commonly used in the treatment of acute myeloid leukemia, particularly in older adults (Tiley & Claxton, 2012). This drug enters the cell and is converted to its triphosphate form, which is then incorporated into genomic DNA (Tiley and Claxton, 2012; Zhenchuk *et al.*, 2009). Like gemcitabine, Clofarabine inhibits the action of ribonucleoside reductase, causing dNTP pool depletion, and inhibiting DNA synthesis, with the additional effect of increasing the likelihood of Clofarabine incorporation (Tiley and Claxton, 2012; Zhenchuk *et al.*, 2009).

#### 1.5.3 Alkylating Agents.

Cisplatin is a platinum-based chemotherapy used to treat cancers of the bladder, head and neck, lung, ovary, and testis (Dasari & Bernard Tchounwou, 2014; Makovec, 2019). Cisplatin induces cell death at least in part by introducing Inter-or Intrastrand Cross-links (ICLs) between Purine DNA bases (Dasari and Bernard Tchounwou, 2014). Once cisplatin enters the cell, it becomes activated by displacement of chloride ions with water molecules in the cytoplasm (Dasari and Bernard Tchounwou, 2014). The resulting product is a potent electrophile that binds to the N7 reactive center on purine residues (Dasari and Bernard Tchounwou, 2014). Cisplatin exposure also results in the generation of Reactive Oxygen Species (ROS), which also drives cell death (Dasari and Bernard Tchounwou, 2014). Cisplatin is also thought to interact with various other proteins within the cell including Protein Kinase C, which is important in signal transduction and cell regulation, and Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase, which is important in signalling and controlling cell growth, although the interaction and consequences are still not completely understood (Dasari and Bernard Tchounwou, 2014). Despite its widespread use, the efficacy of platinum as an anti-cancer agent is limited due to the development of therapeutic resistance, and the inherent toxicity associated with use of this class of drug (Makovec, 2019). Cisplatin is known to cause nephrotoxicity and ototoxicity (Makovec, 2019; Pabla & Dong, 2008).

#### 1.5.4 Precision Cancer Medicines.

The goal of many traditional cancer therapies is to kill cancer cells by causing DNA damage (Hosoya & Miyagawa, 2014). Within the cell, DNA damage is repaired to protect the cell, often causing the efficacy of cancer therapies to be affected by allowing the cell to survive (Hosoya & Miyagawa, 2014). However, due to specific DNA repair defects in specific cancers these can be exploited for treatment with DNA-damaging agents (Hopkins *et al.*, 2022). The development of precision medicine has been made possible by the genomic era of medicine. The genetics of individual cancer can be used to develop treatment strategies to exploit specific changes to the cancer genome, employing synthetic lethal combinations to specifically target the cancer cells (Hopkins *et al.*, 2022; Hosoya & Miyagawa, 2014). An example of this is the development of Poly-ADP-ribose (PARP) inhibitors, which are used to treat cancers with DNA repair defects, such as treatment-refractory *BRCA*-deficient breast and ovarian cancer (Cortesi *et al.*, 2021).

#### 1.5.5 PARP Inhibitors.

PARP inhibitors are currently licensed for use in treatment of patients with *BRCA* deficient breast, ovarian, pancreatic or prostate cancers (Mateo *et al.*, 2019). The potential of PARP inhibitors for clinical use was realised in 2005 in two publications, in which the specificity of *BRCA*-deficient cell sensitivity to PARP was first described (Bryant *et al.*, 2005; Farmer *et al.*, 2005).

There are 17 PARP enzymes, some of which are involved in DNA repair. PARP-1 is the main PARP enzyme involved in DNA repair in humans, with extensively studied roles in the Base Excision Repair (BER) pathway, which is responsible for repair of single stranded DNA breaks, and less studied roles in other repair pathways such as Nucleotide Excision Repair (NER) (Farmer *et al.*, 2005; Pascal, 2018). PARP-1 also plays a role in DNA damage sensing and is involved in recruitment of other DNA repair proteins to the site of DNA breaks through the synthesis of poly (ADP-ribose) chains on target proteins (Farmer *et al.*, 2005; Mateo *et al.*, 2019; Pascal, 2018). After this occurs, auto-PARylation leads to PARP release from the site of action (Mateo *et al.*, 2019).

Olaparib was the first PARP inhibitor to be approved for clinical use, and its targets include PARP1, PARP2, PARP3, and TNKS1 (Bruin *et al.*, 2022). PARP inhibitors such as Olaparib function via at least two mechanisms (Farmer *et al.*, 2005; Mateo *et al.*, 2019). The first is the catalytic inhibition of PARP, which is the main known mechanism of Olaparib (Goulooze *et al.*, 2016; Lord & Ashworth, 2017; Mateo *et al.*, 2019). The other is by trapping PARP on the DNA (Lord & Ashworth, 2017; Mateo *et al.*, 2019). Heterozygous loss of PARP1 can cause severe deleterious effects, including a high rate of genome instability (Shao *et al.*, 2023). Loss or inhibition of PARP function alone causes an increase in *RAD51* foci and sister chromatid

exchange but does not cause an increase in HR, suggesting that PARP is not directly involved in regulating HR, but that loss of PARP function does cause DNA lesions that are repaired by this pathway (Bryant et al., 2005; Farmer et al., 2005). BRCA-deficient tumours lack the ability to repair DNA lesions through HR, and so inhibition of PARP facilitates synthetic lethality to specifically target cancer cells with this genetic alteration (Bryant et al., 2005; Farmer et al., 2005). Cells with a homozygous loss of BRCA1 display a 57-fold increase in sensitivity to PARP inhibitors compared to wild-type cells, and cells with a homozygous loss of BRCA2 exhibit a 133-fold increase in sensitivity (Farmer et al., 2005). Whilst BRCA-deficient cells are sensitive to other DNA damaging agents, such as cisplatin, sensitivity is much less marked, at a 3-fold increase (Farmer et al., 2005). When PARP inhibition causes DNA damage in BRCA-deficient cells, DNA ends are not protected by HR proteins, leading to nascent DNA degradation, which is detrimental for the cell (Mateo et al., 2019). Because of a lack of HR, the damage caused is dealt with in erroneous ways (Bryant et al., 2005; Mateo et al., 2019). These cells depend on DNA repair mechanisms such as non-homologous end joining (NHEJ) which can lead to DNA fragmentation, ultimately leading to cell death (Mateo et al., 2019). Another possible source of sensitivity of BRCA-deficient cells to PARP inhibitors is the formation and failure to repair of post-replicative ssDNA gaps (Cong et al., 2021; Panzarino et al., 2021; Tirman, Cybulla, et al., 2021; Tirman, Quinet, et al., 2021). PARP inhibition inhibits fork-reversal, and as a result repriming by PRIMPOL is increased, which leaves ssDNA gaps behind the replication fork. BRCA1 and BRCA2 limit the prevalence of PRIMPOL and MRE11dependent ssDNA gaps following Olaparib or Cisplatin treatment. Therefore, BRCA loss causes increased sensitivity to PARP inhibitors (Tirman, Quinet, et al., 2021). Some postreplicative repair mechanisms, such as the Trans-lesion Synthesis polymerase complex REV1-Polz have been shown to play a role in the repair of these gaps in HR-deficient cells (Taglialatela et al., 2021).

Resistance to PARP inhibitors is commonly observed in advanced disease. There are many proposed mechanisms for this (Lord & Ashworth, 2017). A possible mechanism is the loss of HR proteins 53BP1 or REV7, which leads to HR being restored in the absence of *BRCA* proteins, leading to rescue of the ability to resolve damage caused by PARP inhibition (Lord & Ashworth, 2017). Another possibility is the presence of a revertant mutation of the defective *BRCA* gene, so that function is at least partially restored, allowing compensation for the damage caused by PARP inhibition (Lord & Ashworth, 2017).

#### 1.6 Background to the Investigation.

#### 1.6.1 MRNIP.

The MRN complex plays an important role in DNA repair, via resection of damaged regions of DNA by MRE11. MRNIP interacts with the MRN complex, and has been demonstrated to

directly interact with MRE11, and limit its exonuclease activity. MRNIP prevents MRE11dependent DNA degradation (Bennett *et al.*, 2020). MRNIP also forms DSB-induced nuclear condensates, promotes MRN recruitment to DSBs, and drives DSB end-resection (Staples *et al.*, 2016; Y. L. Wang *et al.*, 2022). MRNIP plays an important role in MRE11 regulation during meiosis (Kazi *et al.*, 2022; Lin *et al.*, 2021). MRNIP depletion leads to impaired DNA repair and defective ATM-signalling, consistent with an established role for the MRN complex in ATM activation (Staples *et al.*, 2016). The DNA repair and replication fork protection functions of MRNIP may modulate chemoresistance. Therefore, further studies which enhance understanding of the specific mechanisms of these functions would be beneficial to our mechanistic understanding of these functions.

#### 1.6.2 Preliminary Studies.

Previously, work from the Staples laboratory suggests that MRNIP acts to prevent DNA damage and is rapidly recruited to sites of DNA damage (Staples *et al.*, 2016). Ongoing studies in the Staples lab suggest that MRNIP not only plays a role in DNA repair mechanisms, but also in limiting post-replicative gaps in response to PARP inhibitor treatment. MRNIP loss causes sensitivity to the PARP inhibitor Olaparib. MRNIP depletion also leads to MRE11-dependent degradation of nascent DNA, which was hypothesised to be enhancing MRE11 removal of Gemcitabine. MRNIP KO cells were observed to be resistant to the nucleoside analogue Gemcitabine (Staples lab, unpublished data). The above observed phenotypes were also demonstrated to be PRIMPOL-dependent, as PRIMPOL-mediated repriming leads to ssDNA gaps in the nascent strand. Phosphorylation of MRNIP on the S217 site plays a role in MRNIP functionality in response to Gemcitabine treatment (Staples lab, unpublished data).

#### 1.6.3 Focus of the Project.

The focus of the project is the further characterisation of MRNIP, and the exploration of MRNIP KO cell sensitivity to a wider range of chemotherapeutic agents.

Previous observations in the Staples lab demonstrated MRNIP-mediated Gemcitabine sensitivity and Olaparib resistance. This will be explored in the project via MTT assays, and by looking at DNA damage markers via indirect immunofluorescence. MRNIP KO cells have previously shown differential responses to other Nucleoside Analogues. This will also be explored through MTT assays during this project. The phosphorylation of the S217 site on MRNIP has been hypothesised to be important to MRNIP function. The validity of these results and further study into the role will also be explored through MTT assays and visualisation of DNA damage markers via indirect immunofluorescence during this project.

#### 1.6.4 Questions the project will answer.

What is the role of MRNIP in mediating the cellular response to Gemcitabine or Olaparib?

What is the role of MRNIP in mediating the cellular response to other Nucleoside Analogues?

What role does the phosphorylation of MRNIP S217 site play in MRNIP-mediated responses to different chemotherapeutic agents?

# 2. Materials and Methods

#### 2.1 Materials Used

#### 2.1.1 siRNA

siRNA Target	Target Sequence
MRNIP	CAGGUUAUUAAUCGAGAUA
PRIMPOL	GAGGAAAGCUGGACAUCGA

Table 1- Target sequences of siRNA used in this thesis.

#### 2.1.2 Antibodies

Antibody	Used for	Supplier	Source	Catalogue	Dilution
				Number	used
53BP1	Western Blot	ABCAM	Rabbit	Ab21083	1:1000
BRCA1	Western Blot	GeneTex	Mouse	17F8	1:1000
FLAG	Western Blot	Merck	Mouse	SLCM4081	1:1000
GAPDH	Western Blot	Santa Cruz	Mouse	Sc-365062	1:1000
ldU/BrdU	Immunofluorescence	BD Biosciences	Mouse	B44	1:1000
MRNIP	Western Blot	Santa Cruz	Mouse	Sc-390012	1:2000
Phosphorylated S217 MRNIP	Western Blot	Eurogentec	Rabbit	ZGB22030	1:1000
PRIMPOL	Western Blot	Proteintech	Rabbit	29824-1-AP	1:1000
RAD51	Immunofluorescence	ABCAM	Rabbit	ab133534	1:1000
SMARCAL1	Western Blot	Santa Cruz	Mouse	Sc-376377	1:1000
γΗ2ΑΧ	Immunofluorescence	Merck	Mouse	05-636-1	1:1000

Table 2- Primary Antibodies used in this thesis.

Antibody	Used for	Supplier	Source	Catalogue Number	Dilution used
Alexa Fluor <sup>™</sup> 488	Immunofluorescence (IdU)	Invitrogen	Goat anti- mouse	A11001	1:500
Alexa Fluor™ 594	Immunofluorescence (H2AX)	Invitrogen	Goat anti- mouse	A11005	1:500
Alexa Fluor <sup>™</sup> 488	Immunofluorescence ( <i>RAD51</i> )	Invitrogen	Goat anti- rabbit	A11008	1:500
Anti-mouse HRP	Western Blot	Cell Signalling	Horse	7076	1:3000
Anti-Rabbit HRP	Western Blot	Cell Signalling	Goat	7074	1:3000

Table 3- Secondary antibodies used for visualisation used in this thesis.

## 2.1.3 Solutions / Buffers

Description	Used for	Supplier	Content	Catalogue Number
Tris Buffered Saline (TBS)	Protein Pulldown Assay	Fisher	150 mM NaCl 50 mM Tris Base pH 7.4	BP2472-1
Tris Buffered Saline 10X (TBS)	Western Blot	N/A	200 mM Tris Base 1500 mM NaCl pH 7.6	N/A
Phosphate Buffered Saline (PBS)	Immunofluorescence	Sigma	<ul> <li>2.7 mM KCl</li> <li>2.7 mM KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub></li> <li>140 mM NaCl</li> <li>8.1 mM Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub></li> <li>anhydrous</li> </ul>	D8537
RIPA Cell Lysis Buffer	Western Blot	N/A	25 mM Tris pH 7.5 150 mM NaCl	N/A

			1% NP-40	
			0.1% sodium dodecyl sulphate (SDS)	
			1% Sodium deoxycholate	
3% BSA in PBS	Immunofluorescence	N/A	0.9 g BSA	N/A
			30 ml PBS	
5% Milk in TBST	Western Blot	N/A	5 g milk	N/A
			100 ml TBS	
			100 μl Tween	
4%	Immunofluorescence	Sigma-	1.2 ml Formaldehyde	252549
Paraformaldehyde		Aldrich	30 ml PBS	
Protein Pulldown	Protein Pulldown	N/A	150 nM NaCl	N/A
Buffer	Assay		3 mM KCl	
			25 mM Tris	
			10% Glycerol	
			1 mM DDT	
			Protease/phosphatase inhibitor	
NuPAGE <sup>™</sup> MES	Western Blot	Invitrogen	50 ml Concentrated stock	NP0002
SDS Running Buffer			Make up to 1 L Distilled water	
NuPAGE <sup>™</sup>	Western Blot	Novex	50 ml Concentrated stock	NP0006-1
Transfer Buffer			20 ml methanol	
			Make up to 1L Distilled	
			water	
Tris Acetate SDS Running buffer	Western Blot	Novex	50 ml Concentrated stock	LA0041
			Make up to 1 L Distilled water	
Triton X-100	Immunofluorescence	Fisher	N/A	BP151-100

Hydrochloric Acid	Immunofluorescence	Sigma-	N/A	258148
		Aldrich		

Table 4- Solutions and buffers prepared and used in this thesis.

#### 2.1.4 Other Materials

Description	Used for	Supplier	Catalogue Number
Halt Protease &	Western Blot/ Protein	Thermo Fisher	78446
Phosphatase Inhibitor	Pulldown Assay	Scientific	
Cocktail			
DAPI	Immunofluorescence	Sigma Aldrich	D9542
LDS	Western Blot	Novex	B0008
MRNIP pS217 Peptide	Protein Pulldown Assay	GenScript	Custom Made
MRNIP S217 Peptide	Protein Pulldown Assay	GenScript	Custom Made
Dynabeads M-280	Protein Pulldown	Thermo Fisher	11205D
Streptavidin	Assay	Scientific	
HeLa Cell Nuclear	Protein Pulldown	IPRACELL	CC012050
Extracts	Assay		
Dithiothreitol (DTT)	Protein Pulldown	Thermo Fisher	R0861
	Assay	Scientific	
2-Mercaptoethanol	Protein Pulldown	Sigma Aldrich	M6250
(BME)	Assay		
MTT	MTT Assay	Thermo Scientific	L11939.06
Immu-Mount	Immunofluorescence	Thermo Fisher	9990402
		Scientific	
Albumin Bovine	Immunofluorescence/	MELFORD	9048-46-8
Fraction V (BSA)	Western Blot		
Pierce <sup>™</sup> ECL Western	Western Blot	Thermo Scientific	32106
Blotting Substrate			

NuPAGE <sup>™</sup> 4-12% Bis-	Western	blot of	Invitrogen	NP0322BOX
Tris Gel	protein belo	ow 150 kDa		
NuPAGE <sup>™</sup> 3-8% Tris-	Western	blot of	Invitrogen	EA0378BOX
Acetate Gel	proteins	above		
	150kDa			

Table 5- Other materials used in this thesis.

#### 2.2 Methods

#### 2.2.1 Cell Culture

U2OS, HeLa and HCT116 cancer cell lines were cultured as adherent monolayers in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM) (Supplier: Sigma Aldrich) supplemented with 10% foetal bovine serum (FBS), and maintained at 37°C, 5% CO<sub>2</sub> and 100% humidity.

#### 2.2.2 siRNA Transfection

Four microlitres of Lipofectamine 2000 or Lipofectamine RNAiMAX were diluted in 100  $\mu$ l serum-free DMEM. Specified siRNAs were made up in RNase-free water to a concentration of 100  $\mu$ M and diluted to the preferred concentration in serum-free DMEM. The Lipofectamine and siRNA dilutions were then mixed 1:1 and incubated at room temperature. Following 20 minutes, the Lipo and siRNA mixture was added to the media to achieve a final siRNA concentration of 50 nM. Cells were lysed or fixed for processing after 48-72 hours incubation.

#### 2.2.3 Immunofluorescence

30,000 cells were plated and grown on autoclaved glass coverslips in 24 well plates. After 24 hours, transfections and treatments were performed as indicated in individual experiments, according to the transfection protocol above. Cells were then fixed in 4% PFA in PBS for 10 minutes at 4°C and permeabilized in 0.5% Triton X-100 in PBS for 5 minutes at room temperature. Cells were blocked using 3% BSA in PBS for 30-60 minutes at room temperature. Cells were incubated with indicated primary antibody, made up in 3% BSA in PBS, overnight at 4°C. The following day, cells were incubated with indicated secondary antibody and DAPI, made up in 3% BSA in PBS, for 2 hours at room temperature. Between steps, cells were washed in PBS. Coverslips were mounted using Immu-Mount medium. Imaging was performed by fluorescence microscopy on a Zeiss LSM710 confocal microscope using 40X or 63X magnification. Images were analysed using Zen software.

#### 2.2.4 Denaturing IdU Immunofluorescence

30,000 cells were plated and grown on autoclaved glass coverslips in 24 well plates. After 24 hours, cells were treated with a 100 nM dose of Gemcitabine. After 3 hours 40 minutes, 10  $\mu$ M IdU was added to the experiment. After a further 20 minutes, cells were fixed in 4% PFA

in PBS for 10 minutes at 4°C. Cells were then permeabilized in 0.5% Triton X-100 in PBS for 5 minutes at room temperature. Cells were then incubated with 1.25M HCl. Cells were then blocked in 3% BSA in PBS for 45 minutes at room temperature. Cells were then incubated with a primary antibody recognising IdU in 3% BSA in PBS overnight (Table 2). The following day, cells were incubated with a secondary antibody for 2 hours at room temperature (Table 3). Between steps, cells were washed in PBS. Coverslips were mounted using Immu-Mount medium. Imaging was performed by fluorescence microscopy on a Zeiss LSM710 confocal microscope using 40X or 63X magnification. Images were analysed using Zen software.

#### 2.2.5 Cell Lysis and Western Blot

Whole-cell extracts were prepared by lysing cells using RIPA buffer (Table 4) with added protease and phosphatase inhibitors at 1:100 dilution (Table 5). Gel electrophoresis was performed using NuPAGE gels (Refer to Table 5) and NuPAGE running buffer (Table 4) ran at 160V for 1 hour 20 minutes in Mini Gel Tanks from Invitrogen. Proteins were transferred onto PVDF membranes using NuPAGE transfer buffer (Table 4) at 30V for 1 hour in transfer tanks from Novex. Membrane was blocked for 30-60 minutes in 5% milk TBST and probed with primary antibodies overnight at 4°C and secondary antibodies for 2 hours at room temperature. Visualisation using Bio-Rad Chemi-doc imaging system was carried out.

#### 2.2.6 MTT Assay

100,000 cells were seeded into wells of a 6-well plate and transfected with siRNA as indicated in individual experiments. After 24-48 hours, cells were Trypsinised, counted and 2000 cells per well were replated into 96-well plates. For experiments where no transfection was needed, 2000 cells per well were plated directly into 96 well plates. After a further 24 hours cells were treated with the compounds indicated in individual experiments. Plates were then incubated for an additional 48 hours before 1 mg/ml MTT was added for 2 -3 hours. Following this, plates were aspirated, and MTT was solubilised with the addition of 100 µl per well of DMSO, followed by shaking for 10 minutes to homogenise the solution. Readout of the plates was completed on a BioTek ELx800 plate-reader run on Gen5 software. Absorbance readout values for each dose were averaged and expressed as a percentage of the average of the untreated controls.

#### 2.2.7 Immunoprecipitation Assay

One million WT, MRNIP KO HeLa cells expressing FLAG-WT or FLAG S217 were grown in 10 cm plates. After 24 hours, cells were lysed. FLAG M2 antibody-coated beads (Sigma) were washed 2 times with 1xTBST and incubated with whole cell lysates gathered from HeLa cells overnight at 4°C. Beads were then washed 4 times in 1xTBST containing protease and phosphatase inhibitor (Table 5), then 2XSDS loading buffer was added to the beads, and samples were boiled at 95°C for 2 minutes to remove the proteins from the beads. Gel electrophoresis was performed using a NuPAGE gel (Refer to Table 5) and NuPAGE running

buffer (Table 4) at 160V for 1 hour 30 minutes. Proteins were transferred onto PVDF membranes using NuPAGE transfer buffer (Table 4) at 30V for 1 hour. The membrane was blocked for 30-60 minutes in 3% BSA in TBST and probed with the phospho-S217 primary antibody overnight at 4°C and secondary antibody for 2 hours at room temperature. Visualisation using Bio-Rad Chemi-doc imaging system was carried out.

#### 3. Results

The nuclease MRE11 has essential functions in DNA repair and the replication stress response and is known to degrade DNA at stalled replication forks (Kim et al., 2020). The Staples laboratory recently identified MRNIP as a regulator of MRE11 at stalled, reversed replication forks in response to hydroxyurea-induced replication stress (Bennett et al., 2020; Staples et al., 2016). Whether MRNIP has additional functions during chemotherapy-induced replication stress is currently under investigation. Preliminary findings indicate that MRNIP promotes Olaparib chemoresistance by limiting the prevalence of MRE11-dependent postreplicative ssDNA gaps formed consequent to PRIMPOL-mediated replication repriming. However, whether MRNIP displays similar functions in response to other replication stress agents is currently unknown. Here, the sensitivity of MRNIP KO cells to a range of Nucleoside Analogues: Gemcitabine, Clofarabine, Fludarabine and Cytarabine were tested. Given the role of PRIMPOL in the Olaparib response of MRNIP KO cells, and prior evidence that repriming occurs in response to Chain-Terminating Nucleoside Analogue (CTNA) treatment, it was hypothesised that PRIMPOL similarly modulates replication dynamics and cell fate in MRNIP KO cells treated with Gemcitabine (Kobayashi et al., 2016). PRIMPOL has also been suggested to incorporate Gemcitabine and Cytarabine, although whether PRIMPOL also incorporates Fludarabine and Clofarabine is untested (Díaz-Talavera et al., 2022; Tokarsky et *al.*, 2017).

Prior mass spectrometry analysis conducted by the Staples laboratory identified phosphorylation of MRNIP at S217. Further studies in the laboratory identified a possible role for the phosphorylation of MRNIP S217 in modulation of chemoresistance (Staples lab, unpublished data). S217 is a proline directed phosphorylation site. As such, a number of proline-directed enzymes are candidate S217 kinases; Cyclin-Dependent Kinases (CDKs) 2, 3, 4, 6, and 8, ERK1/2, ERK5, p38, JNK and DYRK1. (Igarashi & Okuda, 2019; Pelech, 1995). Given that the majority of these kinases are either cell cycle phase-specific, or are responsive to stresses including DNA damage, it is possible that S217 phosphorylation facilitates cell cycle phase- or DDR-specific control of MRE11 via MRNIP. To better understand the role of S217 phosphorylation, further studies are required to uncover the kinase(s) and activating stimuli responsible.

The purpose of the investigation was to further explore the role(s) of MRNIP in cancer cells treated with nucleoside analogues or PARP inhibitors, to improve the current understanding of MRNIP function, with possible future implications for cancer therapy.

#### 3.1 MRNIP loss leads to Gemcitabine resistance.

The first cancer therapy tested during this study was Gemcitabine. Previous studies in the Staples laboratory suggested that MRNIP KO cells are resistant to Gemcitabine treatment. To confirm this finding, an MTT assay was performed with Wild-type and MRNIP KO HeLa and HCT116 cell lines. Cells were treated with a varying dose of Gemcitabine for 72 hours, and the MTT assay was then used as a crude measure of cell survival (though the assay directly measures reduced NADH and NADPH generated during metabolism). MRNIP KO cells of both cell backgrounds displayed increased survival relative to their WT counterparts in response to Gemcitabine treatment (Figure 5A and B).

To assess the role of MRNIP in survival in another cell line in response to Gemcitabine treatment, MRNIP was depleted via siRNA transfection in the osteosarcoma line U2OS. Since previous work from the Staples laboratory suggested that replication repriming and fork reversal may be important processes with respect to the cellular response to Gemcitabine, MRNIP was depleted in PRIMPOL KO and SMARCAL1 KO U2OS. In contrast to the previous observations in MRNIP KO HeLa and HCT116 cells, MRNIP-depleted U2OS cells displayed increased sensitivity to Gemcitabine, relative to their WT counterparts. PRIMPOL KO cells displayed increased survival compared to WT cells, but MRNIP-depleted PRIMPOL KO cells displayed reduced survival, similar to MRNIP-depleted WT cells. Survival of SMARCAL1 KO cells was reduced compared to the WT cells, and this effect was unchanged by MRNIP depletion (Figure 6A). MRNIP depletion and PRIMPOL/SMARCAL1 status was monitored by Western blotting (Figure 6B-D). This experiment was performed once and required repetition to confirm the phenotypes observed.



Figure 5 – MRNIP loss causes increased resistance to Gemcitabine treatment.

2000 cells/well were plated in 96 well plates. 4 wells were plated for each condition. Wild-Type and MRNIP KO (**A**) HeLa and (**B**) HCT116 cell lines were treated with the indicated concentrations of Gemcitabine. After 72 hours an MTT assay was performed, and the results were normalized to untreated controls. \*p=<0.05 (N=3). The statistical significance was determined by unpaired t-test.


# Figure 6 – The effect of MRNIP depletion on Gemcitabine chemosensitivity in U2OS cells.

2000 cells/well were plated. 4 wells were plated per condition. (**A**) Wild-Type and CRISPR derivative PRIMPOL KO and SMARCAL1 KO U2OS cells were transfected with Control or MRNIP siRNA. After 48 hours, cells were treated with the indicated concentration of Gemcitabine. After a further 72 hours, an MTT assay was performed, and the results were normalized to the untreated controls (N=1). (**B**) MRNIP depletion, (**C**) SMARCAL1 KO, and (**D**) PRIMPOL KO were confirmed by SDS-PAGE and western blotting of whole cell lysates.

#### 3.2 The effect of MRNIP loss on DNA damage markers in response to Gemcitabine treatment.

To develop our understanding of the role of MRNIP in the cellular response to Gemcitabine, indirect immunofluorescence experiments were undertaken to assess markers of DNA damage and recombination ( $\gamma$ H2AX and RAD51, respectively). Cells were also depleted of PRIMPOL, to assess the potential role of replication repriming. Wild-type and MRNIP KO HeLa cells were grown on glass coverslips and transfected with Control or PRIMPOL siRNA, then stained with validated antibodies raised against  $\gamma$ H2AX and RAD51. An increased basal frequency of  $\gamma$ H2AX-positive and RAD51-positive cells were observed in untreated MRNIP KO cells relative to WT cells, in agreement with previous findings (Bennett *et al.*, 2020; Staples *et al.*, 2016). Reduced markers of DNA damage and recombination were observed in Gemcitabine-treated MRNIP KO cells, consistent with the observation that MRNIP KO cells are resistant to Gemcitabine. PRIMPOL depletion had no effect on the frequency of  $\gamma$ H2AX-positive cells in the absence of Gemcitabine, though following Gemcitabine

treatment DNA damage in WT cells was ameliorated by PRIMPOL depletion. Conversely, depletion of PRIMPOL caused a slight increase in both markers in MRNIP KO cells treated with Gemcitabine, suggesting that repriming may exert opposing effects in the presence and absence of MRNIP (Figure 7A-C). MRNIP loss was confirmed by Western blotting (Figure 7D). However, this experiment must be repeated to ensure the validity of these initial observations.



## Figure 7 – The effect of PRIMPOL depletion on DNA damage markers in Gemcitabinetreated WT and MRNIP KO cells.

30,000 cells per well were plated. After 24 hours (**A**) Wild-Type and MRNIP KO HeLa cells were transfected with Control or PRIMPOL siRNA. After 48 hours cells were treated with the indicated doses of Gemcitabine. After 16 hours, cells were fixed and stained with an antibody recognising (**B**)  $\gamma$ H2AX and (**C**) RAD51. Cells were counterstained with DAPI and visualised at 63X magnification and those containing more than 5 foci were counted as positive and expressed as a percentage of the total number of cells imaged. (**D**) MRNIP status was confirmed by SDS-PAGE and Western blotting of whole cell lysates. (N=1).

The effect of Gemcitabine treatment on DNA replication in WT and MRNIP KO cells was assessed via denaturing IdU experiments. Cells were treated with 100 nM Gemcitabine, and then pulsed for 20 minutes with IdU to label nascent DNA. Cells were then fixed and stained with an anti-BrdU antibody that cross-reacts with IdU and visualised via indirect immunofluorescence. Gemcitabine treatment led to a marked reduction in the frequency of IdU-positive WT cells, although strikingly DNA replication in MRNIP KO cells was almost completely unaffected by Gemcitabine treatment (Figure 8A and B).



HeLa 100 nM Gemcitabine

# Figure 8 – The effect of MRNIP loss on DNA replication in response to Gemcitabine treatment.

30,000 cells per well were plated. After 24 hours (**A**) Wild-Type and MRNIP KO HeLa cell lines were treated with 100 nM Gemcitabine. After 3 hours 40 minutes, IdU was added to the cells. After a further 20 minutes, cells were fixed, permeabilized and DNA was denatured in HCl, before being blocked and stained with an antibody recognising IdU. Cells were counterstained with DAPI and visualised at 40X magnification. IdU-positive cells were counted and expressed as a percentage of the total number of cells imaged (**B**). (N=1).

### 3.3. The role of MRNIP Serine 217 phosphorylation in the cellular response to Gemcitabine.

Previous mass spectrometry analysis conducted by the Staples laboratory demonstrated that MRNIP is phosphorylated on S217. An antibody against a phospho-peptide spanning the S217 site was raised (Eurogentec). To attempt to test and validate this antibody, MRNIP KO cells stably expressing doxycycline-inducible FLAG-WT or FLAG-S217A MRNIP were generated and whole-cell extracts derived from these lines were assessed by Western blotting with the p-S217 antibody. Extracts from WT and MRNIP KO cells were included as additional positive and negative controls. Unfortunately, no specific bands were observed in whole cell extracts (Figure 9A). To enrich MRNIP further and purify the cell extracts, FLAG-tagged WT or S217A MRNIP were immunoprecipitated using beads coated with anti-FLAG M2 antibody. A band of the correct molecular weight for the MRNIP protein was observed (Figure 9B). However, the band was also present in samples prepared from the unphosphorylatable FLAG-S217A MRNIP mutants. The blot was re-probed with FLAG antibody in attempt to validate the cells used, however this blot was unsuccessful and did not show any specific bands.

Previous observations suggested that phosphorylation of MRNIP at Serine 217 is important for function. To confirm this phenotype an MTT assay was performed with WT and MRNIP KO cells, and MRNIP KO cells expressing FLAG-WT MRNIP (FWT) or FLAG-S217A (S217A). Gemcitabine resistance was noted in MRNIP KO cells relative to WT cells, as previously observed. Expression of WT MRNIP in MRNIP KO cells restored Gemcitabine sensitivity, though notably, expression of S217A MRNIP did not, suggesting that modification of this site is important in mediating the ability of MRNIP to drive chemosensitivity (Figure 10(A)). FLAG expression in the MRNIP KO + FLAG-WT or FLAG-S217A mutant cell lines was tested via Western Blotting of whole-cell lysates (Figure 10B).



### Figure 9-Testing of a polyclonal antibody raised against p-S217.

(A) Wild-Type and MRNIP KO HeLa cells, and MRNIP KO HeLa cells stably expressing FLAG Wild-Type MRNIP or FLAG-S217A MRNIP lines were treated with doxycycline, and 24 hours later were treated with 100 nM Gemcitabine for 16 hours. Cells were then lysed, and a Western Blot was performed using a phospho-S217 antibody. (B) Wild-Type, and MRNIP KO HeLa cells expressing FLAG WT or FLAG S217A were treated with doxycycline, and 24 hours later cells were lysed, and FLAG-tagged MRNIP was purified via immunoprecipitation with FLAG M2 beads. Eluates were probed with antibodies against p-S217 and FLAG.



Figure 10– The role of Ser217 in the regulation of Gemcitabine resistance by MRNIP.

2000 cells/well were plated. 4 repeat wells were plated per condition. (**A**) Wild-Type and MRNIP KO HeLa cells, and MRNIP KO HeLa cells stably expressing FLAG Wild-Type MRNIP or FLAG-S217A MRNIP were treated with the indicated concentrations of Gemcitabine. After 72 hours an MTT assay was performed, and results were normalized to untreated controls. (**B**) FLAG expression was confirmed in FLAG-WT and FLAG-S217A cell lines by SDS-PAGE and Western blotting of whole-cell extracts. (N=1).

To assess the impact of S217 phosphorylation status on DNA damage, immunofluorescent detection of the DNA damage and recombination markers  $\gamma$ H2AX and RAD51 were once again employed. MRNIP KO, MRNIP KO + FLAG-WT and MRNIP KO + FLAG-S217A HeLa cells were grown on glass coverslips and treated with 100 nM Gemcitabine for 16 hours. Cells were then fixed, stained with validated antibodies raised against  $\gamma$ H2AX and RAD51, and visualised by indirect immunofluorescence. Expression of FLAG-WT but not FLAG-S217A MRNIP in MRNIP KO cells led to an increase in the frequency of  $\gamma$ H2AX-positive cells, suggesting that S217 is required for MRNIP-mediated promotion of Gemcitabine-induced DNA damage (Figure 11A-C). In untreated cells, the frequency of  $\gamma$ H2AX-positive cells did not vary significantly. The frequency of *RAD51*-positive cells in Gemcitabine-treated MRNIP KO cells and S217A cells was significantly reduced relative to FLAG-WT cells, supporting the observation that S217A mutants phenocopy MRNIP loss. In untreated MRNIP KO cells, expression of FLAG-WT MRNIP suppressed the basal levels of *RAD51*-positive cells, and this decrease was largely independent of S217 status.



# Figure 11- Gemcitabine-induced DNA damage is dependent on MRNIP Ser217 phosphorylation.

30,000 cells per well were plated. After 24 hours (**A**) MRNIP KO HeLa cell lines, and MRNIP KO cells stably expressing FLAG-tagged-Wild-type or S217A MRNIP were treated with 100 nM Gemcitabine. After 16 hours, cells were fixed and stained with antibodies recognising (**B**)  $\gamma$ H2AX and (**C**) RAD51. Cells were counterstained with DAPI, visualised by indirect immunofluorescence, and those containing more than 5 foci were counted as positive and expressed as a percentage of the total number of cells imaged. \*p=<0.05 (N=3). The statistical significance was determined using two-way ANOVA.

### 3.4 The effect of MRNIP loss on the cellular response to Nucleoside Analogue treatment.

Spurred on by these interesting findings, the response of MRNIP KO cells to several other Nucleoside Analogues were tested. MTT assays were performed as a crude method to establish cell survival in response to treatment in response to varying doses of Clofarabine, Fludarabine, Cytarabine and Gemcitabine. Interestingly MRNIP loss resulted in chemosensitivity or chemoresistance, depending on the analogue tested (Figure 12). MRNIP KO cells were sensitive to Clofarabine and Fludarabine relative to their WT counterparts (Figures 10A and B). Conversely, MRNIP KO cells were resistant to both Gemcitabine as previously demonstrated, though large error bars in the Cytarabine assay precluded proper analysis (Figures 10C and D).



Figure 12 – The effect of MRNIP KO on HeLa cell survival in response to Nucleoside Analogue treatment.

2000 cells/well were plated in 96 well plates. 4 replicate wells were plated per condition. Wild-Type HeLa and MRNIP KO CRISPR derivative cell lines were treated with the indicated concentrations of (**A**) Clofarabine, (**B**) Fludarabine, (**C**) Gemcitabine or (**D**) Cytarabine. After 72 hours an MTT assay was performed, and results were normalized to untreated control. \*p=<0.05 (N=3). The statistical significance was determined by unpaired t-test.

PRIMPOL can incorporate Gemcitabine and Cytarabine into genomic DNA *in vitro* (Tokarsky *et al.*, 2017). The efficiency of PRIMPOL incorporation of Fludarabine and Clofarabine is unknown. To develop our understanding of the role of PRIMPOL in the cellular response to nucleoside analogue treatment, MTT assays were performed. WT and MRNIP KO HeLa cells were grown and transfected with a non-targeting control siRNA or an siRNA targeting PRIMPOL. Cells were then treated with varying doses of Clofarabine, Fludarabine, Cytarabine and Gemcitabine. PRIMPOL depletion had little effect on WT cells in response to Clofarabine treatment. However, MRNIP KO cells depleted of PRIMPOL displayed an increase in survival following Clofarabine treatment, however this may be due to poor baseline survival in MRNIP KO cells depleted of PRIMPOL depletion had little effect on WT or MRNIP KO cells in response to Fludarabine treatment (Figure 13A). PRIMPOL depletion had little effect on WT or MRNIP KO cells in response to Fludarabine treatment (Figure 13B). WT cells displayed no phenotypic difference to PRIMPOL depletion in response to Gemcitabine treatment, while MRNIP KO cells depleted of PRIMPOL displayed a slight decrease in survival

at the highest dose tested – it is possible that this difference may be enhanced upon further dose escalation, though this requires additional experimentation (Figure 13C). PRIMPOL depletion had no significant effect on WT cells in response to Cytarabine treatment (Figure 13D). MRNIP KO cells depleted of PRIMPOL displayed a decrease in survival in response to Cytarabine, although this experiment requires further repetition.



# Figure 13– The effect of PRIMPOL knockdown on MRNIP KO HeLa cell survival in response to nucleoside analogues.

2000 cells/well were plated. 4 replicate wells were plated per condition. Wild-Type HeLa and MRNIP KO CRISPR derivative cell lines were transfected with Control or PRIMPOL siRNA. After 48 hours, cells were treated with the indicated concentrations of (**A**) Clofarabine, (**B**) Fludarabine, (**C**) Gemcitabine or (**D**) Cytarabine. After 72 hours an MTT assay was performed, and results were normalized to untreated controls (N=1).

### 3.5 MRNIP loss leads to PARP inhibitor sensitivity.

Previous studies conducted by the Staples laboratory suggested that MRNIP KO cells are sensitive to Olaparib. To confirm this finding, MTT assays were conducted in Olaparib-treated WT and MRNIP KO HeLa and HCT116 cells. Cells were treated with varying doses of Olaparib. Both MRNIP KO HeLa and HCT116 cells displayed increased sensitivity to Olaparib treatment relative to their WT counterparts (Figure 14).



Figure 14– The loss of MRNIP causes sensitivity to PARP inhibition in cancer cell lines.

2000 cells/well were plated. 4 replicate wells were plated per condition. Wild-Type and MRNIP KO (**A**) HeLa and (**B**) HCT116 cell lines were treated with the indicated concentrations of Olaparib. After 72 hours an MTT assay was performed, and the results were normalized to the untreated controls. \*p=<0.05 (N=3). The statistical significance was determined by unpaired t-test.

#### 3.6 The effect of MRNIP loss on DNA damage markers in response to Olaparib treatment.

To assess whether DNA damage was increased in MRNIP KO cells in response to Olaparib treatment, an indirect immunofluorescence experiment was conducted, to look at markers of DNA damage and recombination ( $\gamma$ H2AX and RAD51, respectively). Cells were depleted of PRIMPOL to assess the potential role of replication repriming. WT and MRNIP KO HeLa cells were grown on glass coverslips and transfected with Control or PRIMPOL siRNA, then stained with validated antibodies raised against  $\gamma$ H2AX and RAD51. Olaparib treatment led to an increase in  $\gamma$ H2AX-positive and RAD51-positive cells in MRNIP KO cells, which was decreased by PRIMPOL depletion. MRNIP KO cells demonstrated an increased basal frequency of  $\gamma$ H2AX-positive and RAD51-positive cells relative to WT cells in untreated conditions. Increased DNA damage was observed in Olaparib-treated MRNIP KO cells, consistent with our finding that MRNIP KO cells are sensitive to Olaparib treatment. PRIMPOL depletion had no effect on the frequency of  $\gamma$ H2AX-positive cells in untreated conditions (Figure 15).



# Figure 15– The effect of PRIMPOL depletion on DNA damage in response to PARP Inhibitor treatment.

(A) Cells were visualised via indirect immunofluorescence. 30,000 cells per well were plated. After 24 hours, Wild-Type and MRNIP KO HeLa cells were transfected with Control or PRIMPOL siRNA. After 48 hours cells were treated with a 1  $\mu$ M dose of Olaparib. After 16 hours, cells were fixed and stained with an antibody recognising (**B**)  $\gamma$ H2AX and (**C**) RAD51. Cells were counterstained with DAPI and those containing more than 5 foci were counted as positive and expressed as a percentage of the total number of cells imaged. (N=1).

### 3.7 The role of MRNIP S217 phosphorylation in the response to PARP inhibitor treatment.

To understand whether phosphorylation of Serine 217 site on the MRNIP protein is important in mediating MRNIP function during the cellular response to Olaparib treatment, Olaparibtreated MRNIP KO, MRNIP KO expressing FLAG-WT or FLAG-S217A HeLa cells were stained with markers of DNA damage and recombination ( $\gamma$ H2AX and RAD51 respectively). Expression of FLAG-WT but not FLAG-S217A MRNIP in MRNIP KO cells led to a decrease in the frequency of  $\gamma$ H2AX-positive cells, suggesting that S217 is required for MRNIPmediated Olaparib resistance (Figure 16A and B). In untreated cells, the frequency of  $\gamma$ H2AXpositive cells did not vary significantly between samples. The frequency of RAD51-positive cells in MRNIP KO cells and S217A cells was significantly increased relative to FLAG-WT cells, supporting the observation that S217A mutants phenocopy MRNIP loss (Figure 16C). In untreated cells, the frequency of RAD51-positive cells remained relatively constant.



Figure 16- Serine 217 status modulates DNA damage markers in Olaparib-treated MRNIP KO cells.

30,000 cells per well were plated. (**A**) MRNIP KO HeLa cell lines, MRNIP KO stably expressing FLAG Wild-type MRNIP or S217A MRNIP were treated with 1  $\mu$ M Olaparib. After 16 hours, cells were fixed and stained with antibodies recognising (**B**)  $\gamma$ H2AX and (**C**) RAD51. Cells were counterstained with DAPI, visualised via indirect immunofluorescence, and those containing more than 5 foci were counted as positive and expressed as a percentage of the total number of cells imaged. \*p=<0.05 (N=3). The statistical significance was determined using two-way ANOVA.

Site sequence position: -5 -4 -3 -2 -1 0 1 2 3 4 5 6 sequence: <u>G K E L W S/T P I Q Q V</u>					
Show 10 v entries Search:					n:
•	kinase	♦ kinase group ♦	log₂(score) ♦	site percentile	percentile rank
٢	CK1D	CK1	0.934	<u>96.072 %</u>	1
٢	CDK7	CMGC	4.581	95.557 %	2
٢	CDK2	CMGC	2.959	94.055 %	3
٢	JNK1	CMGC	4.660	93.868 %	4
٢	ERK5	CMGC	2.676	93.750 %	5
٢	JNK3	CMGC	4.268	<u>93.096 %</u>	<u>6</u>
٢	P38G	CMGC	4.862	92.436 %	7
٢	CDK6	CMGC	3.665	<u>91.962 %</u>	8
٢	ERK2	CMGC	3.565	91.881 %	9
٢	JNK2	CMGC	4.458	91.847 %	10

#### Figure 17- Serine 217 possible kinase predictions (Kinase Prediction, n.d.).

The sequence for Serine 217 site on the MRNIP protein was assessed using a kinase prediction software to see possible kinases acting on the site. A total of 303 results were discovered using the sequence with -5 and +5 amino acids either side of the site. The top 10 most likely kinases are displayed above in the table. The site percentile refers to how specific the kinase is likely to be to the predicted site.

#### 3.8 Overview

As a whole, the results obtained suggest that MRNIP loss leads to resistance to Gemcitabine, suggesting that MRNIP mediates sensitivity to Gemcitabine in cancer cells. The increase of DNA damage markers in WT but not MRNIP KO cells treated with Gemcitabine supports this finding. The results also demonstrate that MRNIP loss causes sensitivity to Olaparib, suggesting that MRNIP mediates resistance to Olaparib in cancer cells. The results also demonstrate a role for MRNIP S217 phosphorylation in mediating MRNIP function and suggests this site is essential for MRNIP-mediated cellular responses to treatment with both Gemcitabine and Olaparib.

## 4. Discussion

The purpose of this study was to expand the understanding of the role(s) of the novel replication fork protection factor MRNIP in cells treated with replication stress-inducing genotoxic chemotherapies. MRNIP has been demonstrated to play a role in the cancer cell response to therapy, although further study is required to fully elucidate the functionality of MRNIP in the replication stress response. MRNIP is an established regulator of DNA repair and replication fork protection (Bennett *et al.*, 2020; Staples *et al.*, 2016). MRNIP stabilises stalled replication forks and limits the prevalence of ssDNA gaps formed during DNA replication stress (Bennett *et al.*, 2020 and Bennett *et al.*, under submission). *In vitro*, MRNIP interacts directly with MRE11, and acts to limit MRE11 exonuclease activity (Bennett *et al.*, 2020). MRNIP has been demonstrated to remove Gemcitabine from genomic DNA (Boeckemeier *et al.*, 2020), raising the possibility that altered MRE11 activity in MRNIP KO cells modulates Gemcitabine removal, or post-replicative processing of Gemcitabine-terminated nascent DNA ends. Here, the response of WT and MRNIP KO cancer cells were investigated following treatment with the nucleoside analogues Gemcitabine, Fludarabine, Cytarabine and Clofarabine, in addition to the PARP inhibitor Olaparib.

Gemcitabine is incorporated into nascent DNA during replication, leading to inhibition of DNA replication, cell cycle arrest and cell death (Miao et al., 2019; Pandit & Royzen, 2022). Prior studies in the Staples laboratory demonstrated that MRNIP loss leads to Gemcitabine resistance. To confirm this phenotype, MTT-based growth assays were conducted in WT and MRNIP KO HeLa and HCT116 cell lines. Indeed, following Gemcitabine treatment, MRNIP KO cells of both backgrounds exhibited increased survival relative to their WT counterparts (Figure 5). There are potential issues with the use of the MTT reagent to assess cell viability, since MTT does not measure cell survival per se, but instead reacts with reduced NAD and NADP generated by metabolic activity. Clonogenic assays should be considered to confirm effects on cell survival. One possible explanation for the decrease in Gemcitabine sensitivity of MRNIP KO cells is the potentially enhanced ability of MRE11 to remove Gemcitabine from the nascent DNA in the absence of its negative regulator MRNIP, thus facilitating the continuity of DNA replication (Boeckemeier et al., 2020; Oh & Symington, 2018; Staples et al., 2016). Another possibility is that the absence of MRNIP leads to enhanced MRE11-dependent resection of post-replicative gaps following repriming, which is interesting in the light of recent evidence that the extent of resection at such sites licenses error-free gap-filling by template switching (Gyüre et al., 2023; T. Zhang et al., 2023). Similarly, PRIMPOL is also reported to incorporate Gemcitabine in vitro (Quinet et al., 2020; Tokarsky et al., 2017). At high Gemcitabine doses, PRIMPOL may be more likely to incorporate the NA into nascent DNA. This may lead to successive cycles of repriming and stalling, leading to the generation of short DNA fragments peppered with ssDNA gaps. These short fragments would be unlikely to template switch to fill in the gaps generated, and this may delay ssDNA gap filling until G2, when TLS is the predominant mechanism (Kohn *et al.*, 2009). As such, it is possible that CTNA incorporation and repriming suppresses TS. TLS can be a pathological process, in which mutagenesis occurs and may offer cancer cells opportunity to mutate and evolve (Gao *et al.*, 2016). In MRNIP KO cells, it is possible that hyperactive MRE11 not only removes Gemcitabine, but also digests these short DNA fragments, allowing the cell to employ template switching as the predominant mechanism to repair post replicative gaps and continue DNA replication and survive. This is speculative and testing this hypothesis will require extensive experimental follow-up.

MRNIP was also depleted in U2OS cells via siRNA. PRIMPOL KO cells were used to assess the potential role of PRIMPOL in regulating Gemcitabine sensitivity. However, the findings contradicted previously observed phenotypes, as MRNIP-depleted cells were more sensitive to Gemcitabine relative to controls (Figure 6). One possible explanation for this discrepancy is that the observed phenotype is cell-type specific and is not universal for all cancer cell types. Another possible explanation is that the MRNIP siRNA used was not specific, causing increased cell death in these cells due to an off-target effect. MRNIP knockdown was confirmed by Western blotting, although it is possible that complete loss of MRNIP is required to reveal the Gemcitabine resistance phenotype. PRIMPOL KO cells demonstrated increased survival compared to WT cells treated with Gemcitabine, suggesting that repriming has a negative effect in WT cells. Although this experiment requires confirmation, it supports the hypothesis that repriming and stalling cycles could repress TS and thus impact survival. SMARCAL1 KO cells were also used, to test whether fork-reversal plays a role in the cellular response to Gemcitabine. Fork reversal is a mechanism often used by cells to protect nascent DNA and continue DNA replication in the presence of an obstacle, where the nascent strands are remodelled into a structure similar to a Holliday junction, and proteins such as BRCA1, BRCA2 and RAD51 limit resection of the DNA strands (Qiu et al., 2021; Tian et al., 2021; Zellweger et al., 2015). SMARCAL1 KO cells demonstrate a reduced survival in response to Gemcitabine therapy. This may represent a role for fork reversal in the Gemcitabine response - perhaps nucleolytic removal of Gemcitabine occurs at the end of the regressed nascent DNA arms of reversed forks, although limited data is available on this. This could be further assessed by depletion of the fork reversal factors ZRANB3, HTLF and FBH1 (Fugger et al., 2015; C. E. Moore et al., 2023; Poole & Cortez, 2017; Qiu et al., 2021).

Failure to close repriming-dependent post-replicative gaps in a timely manner results in genome instability and reduced viability (Cong *et al.*, 2021; Panzarino *et al.*, 2021). To test

this hypothesis, the immunofluorescent detection of yH2AX and RAD51 was used as markers of DNA damage. PRIMPOL was depleted via siRNA to assess the role of repriming on Gemcitabine-induced DNA damage levels in WT and MRNIP KO cells. PRIMPOL depletion resulted in a decrease in DNA damage in WT cells treated with Gemcitabine (Figure 7). Conversely, in MRNIP KO cells, PRIMPOL depletion resulted in a moderate increase in DNA damage. This experiment was only performed once, and thus required confirmation. Nonetheless, the data is consistent with a model in which progressive cycles of repriming, Gemcitabine incorporation and fork stalling leads to excessive DNA gapping and inefficient post-replicative repair, which is relieved by excessive nucleolytic activity in MRNIP KO cells. Of course, other mechanisms are also possible, though none can be sufficiently explored via simple immunofluorescence experiments, that is limited in that the methodology does not directly assess effects on nascent DNA. To explore the mechanisms involved further, and test our hypotheses, one would conduct a series of S1 nuclease-linked DNA fibre assays in Gemcitabine-treated WT and MRNIP KO cells depleted of PRIMPOL or post-replicative gapfilling factors such as UBC13, which mediates TS, and RAD18 and REV3L which mediate TLS, allowing visualisation of which factors affect cell survival (Bellí et al., 2022; Hawks et al., 2023; Yang et al., 2015).

Many cancer therapies inhibit tumour growth at least in part by impeding DNA replication. Low doses of Gemcitabine are reported to effectively inhibit global DNA replication in cancer cell (Pandit & Royzen, 2022). To test the effect of Gemcitabine on DNA replication in MRNIP KO cells, a denaturing immunofluorescence experiment was performed, using a short pulse of the halogenated nucleotide analogue IdU to mark active replication sites. The percentage of MRNIP KO cells replicating following treatment with Gemcitabine was very similar to that of untreated cells, while WT cells treated with Gemcitabine displayed a significant reduction in replicating cells (Figure 8). This supports the hypothesis that MRNIP KO cells continue to replicate in the presence of Gemcitabine. This experimental finding might be predicted based on the prior observation that MRNIP KO cells continue to grow following Gemcitabine treatment, and indeed all Gemcitabine-resistant cell models might be expected to express this phenotype. However, additional work performed by the Staples laboratory implicates the TLS polymerase REV3L in suppression of the ssDNA and DNA damage in Gemcitabine-treated MRNIP KO cells, implying the presence of a specific resistance mechanism related to postreplicative gap filling. To explore the suspected connection between replication and MRNIP KO Gemcitabine resistance, a more in-depth study is required assessing the contribution of TLS polymerases and TS/TLS factors to Gemcitabine resistance, ssDNA gap suppression and cell survival in MRNIP KO models. Recent literature suggests UBC13 is important in repair of post replicative gaps via template switching during S phase, while TLS is the predominant factor for repair during G2 phase (Hawks *et al.*, 2023). This may suggest a cell cycle phase specific mechanism for MRNIP KO cell survival.

Mass spectrometry analysis suggests that MRNIP is phosphorylated at S217 (Staples laboratory, unpublished data). A polyclonal antibody against phospho-S217 was raised. A MRNIP-specific band was unable to be detected in whole cell extracts. Following target enrichment via immunoprecipitation of FLAG-tagged MRNIP, a band of the correct molecular weight was observed, although this band was present in all samples including the FLAG-S217A, which is unphosphorylatable (Figure 9B). Without a MRNIP KO sample as a control, it is difficult to determine whether the band observed is MRNIP, and the validity of this antibody is unknown. This experiment requires further optimisation to improve its validity, though more recent work by the Staples laboratory using FLAG-MRNIP-expressing lines has led to the successful validation of this antibody.

Previous observations in the Staples lab suggested a role for MRNIP Serine 217 phosphorylation in the replication stress response. These results demonstrated that relative to WT MRNIP, a S217 alanine substitution mutant does not promote Gemcitabine sensitivity when expressed in MRNIP KO cells (Staples laboratory, unpublished data). To confirm this phenotype, an MTT-based growth assay was carried out. As previously reported, MRNIP KO cells expressing FLAG-S217A MRNIP displayed a similar Gemcitabine resistance profile to MRNIP KO cells, while MRNIP KO cells expressing FLAG-WT MRNIP were sensitised to Gemcitabine to a similar extent to WT cells (Figure 10A). A weakness in this experiment is that the modification of S217 may not be phosphorylation, as it is possible that a different posttranslational modification occurs at this site, such as ADP-ribosylation, acetylation or sulfation, or it is possible that serine substitution directly affects MRNIP function independently of posttranslational modifications of this site. One method via which one might address this is via the use of a phosphomimetic mutant, with Serine217 replaced by the negatively charged aspartate or glutamate amino acids. Phenotypic comparison of cells expressing WT or S217D/E will confirm whether a negative charge at this site is important for MRNIP function and eliminate other possibilities. Initial attempts to generate this line consistently failed, suggesting that S217D/E expression may be cytotoxic. A more in-depth study is required to fully elucidate the functional importance of this phosphorylation site. An important first step would be to identify the kinase responsible for S217 phosphorylation. This could be accomplished via western blotting using a working phospho-S217 antibody following treatment with a range of kinase inhibitors. Given that S217 is a proline-directed phosphorylation site, initial studies would centre around inhibition of MAPKs and CDKs, against which numerous specific inhibitors exist. Analysis of the sequence adjacent to the S217 site of the MRNIP protein via kinase prediction software revealed a range of kinases theoretically capable of S217 phosphorylation, including

many MAPKs and CDKs (Figure 17) (*Kinase Prediction*, n.d.). CDK7 was among the highest likely candidates to phosphorylate S217, which is interesting because previous studies show that inhibition of CDK7 synergises with Gemcitabine treatment to decrease Gemcitabine resistance (Zeng *et al.*, 2022). Interestingly, CDK2 downregulation has been shown to decrease Gemcitabine resistance in some pancreatic cancer backgrounds (Panebianco *et al.*, 2021). Although these findings are not related to MRNIP, it may suggest a starting point of looking at CDK2 over CDK7 as a kinase, as this would correlate with the resistance pattern seen in MRNIP KO cells (Figure 10).

Furthermore, a series of experiments should be conducted to determine under which conditions S217 phosphorylation is stimulated. This could involve treatment with genotoxins such as Gemcitabine or Olaparib, as well as cell cycle block and release assays to assess S217 phosphorylation during cell cycle transit (Nocodazole, Thymidine or Lovastatin block).

The frequency of cells exhibiting the DNA damage markers *γH2AX* and *RAD51* were assessed via immunofluorescence in MRNIP KO cells expressing WT MRNIP or an alanine mutant of S217. Expression of FLAG-WT MRNIP in MRNIP KO cells led to an increase in DNA damage markers following Gemcitabine treatment. MRNIP KO cells expressing FLAG-S217A MRNIP displayed a similar level of DNA damage in untreated and Gemcitabine-treated conditions, similar to MRNIP KO cells (Figure 11). This suggests that S217 phosphorylation plays a role in regulating Gemcitabine-induced DNA damage. The rescue of the phenotype in cells expressing FLAG-WT MRNIP demonstrates that the effects seen are due to MRNIP loss, rather than an off-target CRISPR effect.

The cytotoxic mechanism of nucleoside analogues is not universal. While many NAs cause cancer cell death via incorporation into the DNA, other NAs act via different mechanisms (Jones *et al.*, 2014; Miao *et al.*, 2019; Pandit & Royzen, 2022; Robak *et al.*, 2009). To test the response of MRNIP KO cell to NAs with different mechanisms of action, cells were treated with Clofarabine, Fludarabine and Cytarabine, and compared our findings to those observed following Gemcitabine treatment. Cytarabine acts in a similar way to Gemcitabine, in that it causes chain termination, although Cytarabine does not share the RNR inhibition function of Gemcitabine. Cytarabine is incorporated into the nascent strand of the DNA, where it inhibits DNA replication, leading to cell cycle arrest and cell death (Faruqi & Tadi, 2022; Marcogliese & Yee, 2017). MRNIP KO cells are resistant to both Gemcitabine and Cytarabine (Figure 12C and D). Although in this experiment, the differential survival of WT and MRNIP KO cells is not statistically significant, the data shows a trend of resistance to Clofarabine. This finding needs

to be confirmed, and the assay optimised to improve reproducibility. However, other work performed in the laboratory confirms that MRNIP KO cells are resistant to both Cytarabine and Gemcitabine. Given that Cytarabine does not inhibit RNR, this work suggests that the resistance of MRNIP KO cells to Gemcitabine is related to its chain termination activity, and not its ability to inhibit RNR. Clofarabine and Fludarabine have different mechanisms of action than Gemcitabine and are less efficiently incorporated into nascent DNA, instead acting via inhibition of DNA polymerase and RNR. (Lech-Maranda *et al.*, 2009; Robak *et al.*, 2009; Zhenchuk *et al.*, 2009). This leads to disruption of cellular nucleotide pools, causing fork stalling and cell death. Clofarabine and Fludarabine are more potent RNR inhibitors than Gemcitabine. The sensitivity of MRNIP KO cells to Clofarabine and Fludarabine suggests that MRNIP promotes resistance to nucleotide pool disruption (Figure 12A and B). This is supported by previous observations in the Staples lab demonstrating that MRNIP KO cells are sensitive to hydroxyurea, a potent RNR inhibitor (Agrawal *et al.*, 2014; Bennett *et al.*, 2020).

Following previous observations that repriming has a possible role in modulation of Gemcitabine sensitivity in WT cells, other NAs were tested as well. PRIMPOL was depleted in HeLa cells, and treated cells with the NAs Clofarabine, Cytarabine and Fludarabine, as well as Gemcitabine as a control experiment (Figure 13). The results were not conclusive, with PRIMPOL depleted samples displaying a similar phenotype to controls. Clofarabine-treated WT cells depleted of PRIMPOL displayed a mild reduction in survival relative to controls (Figure 13A). This may suggest that repriming is beneficial for the cell following Clofarabine treatment. MRNIP KO cells depleted of PRIMPOL display an increase in survival relative to controls. Although this result appears interesting, these observations may be due to poor growth of cells following depletion of particular targets. Given that all samples are normalised to untreated controls for each siRNA used, drastically altered baselines values are likely to affect the range of attainable values following genotoxic challenge. The significance of the result is difficult to determine and requires confirmation. Fludarabine chemosensitivity was unaltered by PRIMPOL depletion (Figure 13B). This could be a consequence of partial PRIMPOL depletion, highlighting the importance of confirmation of target depletion via Western Blotting and the use of positive controls. Gemcitabine-treated cells also displayed similar survival regardless of PRIMPOL depletion (Figure 13C). Further experiments are required to test the role of PRIMPOL in CTNA resistance in MRNIP KO cells, including the use of a positive control for successful disruption of PRIMPOL functionality.

Olaparib is a PARP inhibitor (PARPi). PARP enzymes play many distinct roles within the cell, and the functions of PARP1 include SSB repair, Okazaki fragment processing and replication fork reversal. Therefore, by inhibiting PARP, all these functions are affected, leading to increased generation of ssDNA gaps, elevated frequency of SSBs and increased replication

fork progression. Previously in the Staples laboratory, results demonstrated that MRNIP KO cells are sensitive to treatment with Olaparib. To confirm this phenotype, an MTT based assay was employed to measure WT and MRNIP KO HeLa and HCT116 cell survival following Olaparib treatment. MRNIP KO cells of both backgrounds displayed reduced cell survival relative to their WT counterparts (Figure 14). A weakness in this experiment is that under normal circumstances, PARP enzymes use NADH in the cell for ribosylation of ADP (Navas & Carnero, 2021; Nosseri et al., 1994; Shockett & Stavnezer, 1993; L. Wang et al., 2022). An MTT assay is based on the cellular ability to reduce MTT through NAD-dependent oxidoreductases, and therefore PARP inhibition may alter the NADH and NADPH levels, and thus the ability of the cell to metabolise MTT, causing the results to be less representative of survival alone (Mills & Allison, 1990; Surin et al., 2017; L. Wang et al., 2022). To mitigate this, clonogenic survival assays should be employed, as they directly measure cell survival. In BRCA-deficient cells, PARPi causes an accumulation of ssDNA gaps (Simoneau et al., 2021). PARPi also leads to ssDNA gaps by inhibiting Okazaki fragment processing, and also inhibits the repair of SSBs through inhibition of PARylation of target proteins to recruit DNA repair factors to sites of SSBs (EI-Khamisy et al., 2003; van Wietmarschen & Nussenzweig, 2018). SSB accumulation has been shown to cause cell death, due to the inherent instability of ssDNA and the possibility of conversion of SSBs to DSBs during later stages of the cell cycle (Bryant et al., 2005; Cong et al., 2021; Farmer et al., 2005; Panzarino et al., 2021). Furthermore, clustered SSBs can be treated as DSBs by the cell. These factors may be of relevance in MRNIP KO cells. However, these may cause different problems in MRNIP KO cells, such as hyperactive MRE11 preventing timely closure of post-replicative ssDNA gaps, leading eventually to cell death (Goulooze et al., 2016; Javle & Curtin, 2011; Murai et al., 2012; Panzarino et al., 2021). Persistent DNA gaps may be filled by erroneous mechanisms in later stages of the cell cycle, such as TLS. Although TLS is a DNA repair mechanism, the error-prone nature may introduce mutations into the genetic code.

DNA damage markers were surveyed to assess whether MRNIP loss leads to an increase in DNA damage in response to Olaparib treatment. MRNIP KO cells treated with Olaparib demonstrated an increase in DNA damage relative to untreated cells (Figure 15). In WT cells, the increase in DNA damage was less marked. This suggests that MRNIP KO cells suffer increased DNA damage in response to Olaparib treatment relative to WT cells. Although this finding agrees with the observation that MRNIP KO cells exhibit reduced survival in response to Olaparib treatment, it does not explain the underlying mechanism, and again this requires a more in-depth study. DNA fibre assay experiments would once again be beneficial, as they would allow visualisation of the progress of the replication fork and may demonstrate the problems which arise in MRNIP KO cells as a result of Olaparib treatment. MRNIP KO cells treatment. MRNIP KO cells

to controls, suggesting a role for repriming in the damage caused. This increase in DNA damage may be consequent to the altered processing of repriming-induced ssDNA gaps in MRNIP KO cells. Damage levels in WT cells remained relatively constant from untreated to treated cells whether depleted of PRIMPOL or not, suggesting that in WT cells repriming does not lead to excessive DNA damage. This experiment again requires confirmation before any final assumptions can be made, but may indicate that repriming is a beneficial mechanism (as expected), unless key gap protective or nuclease regulatory factors are lost.

Given the role of Serine 217 phosphorylation in Gemcitabine chemoresistance, the role of S217 in Olaparib-treated cells was explored, again employing immunofluorescence to examine the prevalence of the DNA damage markers yH2AX and RAD51. MRNIP KO cells expressing FLAG-S217 alanine and FLAG-WT MRNIP were treated with Olaparib. FLAG-S217A cells displayed an increase in DNA damage following Olaparib treatment, similar to the MRNIP KO cell response to PARP inhibition. Cells expressing FLAG-WT MRNIP displayed similar levels of DNA damage in treated and untreated samples (Figure 16). This supports the earlier hypothesis that S217 site phosphorylation is important for MRNIP function. Though this is again limited in what it demonstrates mechanistically, as the experiment is confined to DNA damage levels, it does show that the function of the S217 site phosphorylation is not specific to the Gemcitabine response and does play a broader role in MRNIP function. Figure 11C and Figure 16 C display different baseline levels of RAD51 foci in MRNIP KO cells as well as the FLAG-WT MRNIP cells. This is a source of error in the data and may suggest the results are not significant. However, it is possible this discrepancy is due to the stock of cells used, as some may have a higher level of baseline damage due to their storage or passage level. It is also possible that the staining was more successful on one experiment than the other, meaning RAD51 foci were more visible and able to be counted. The significance of this difference requires further examination to determine the validity of the results.

#### 4.1 Future Experiments

Due to time constraints faced during this project, many experiments could not be conducted, and there are many future experiments to be considered. As the accuracy of MTT assays to determine cell survival in response to treatment is questionable, in any future experiments conducted, MTT assays would be confirmed with clonogenic survival assays. Another important aspect would be to confirm all the current experiments by conducting repeats, to assess the reproducibility of each result. The exploration of the role of repriming in cellular response to Gemcitabine would be instrumental in understanding the mechanism by which MRNIP KO cells are resistant. This could be conducted by more MTT or clonogenic assay experiments using siRNA to knockdown PRIMPOL. Another focal point of future directions of the project would be the study of the significance of the S217 site phosphorylation on MRNIP function. This would include perfecting the use of the phosphorylated S217 antibody by optimisation of Western Blotting or Immunoprecipitation experiments, or employment of a new, more accurate antibody, to show a clear phosphorylated MRNIP band. This would be followed by an experiment with a panel of kinase inhibitors to determine which is/are responsible for S217 phosphorylation and understand how the role of any kinases identified fits with the cellular response to different cytotoxic treatments. The investigation of how MRNIP cells replicate in the presence of Gemcitabine is another area which requires further study. This would be done via loss of function experiments targeting TLS polymerases and other TLS/TS factors. Further studies on different nucleoside analogues could also be conducted, including more survival assays to understand whether repriming has a role in the cellular response to these agents.

## 5. Conclusion

The purpose of the investigation was to explore the functions of the MRNIP protein in cellular response to various chemotherapeutic agents. Previous work on MRNIP in the Staples lab demonstrated that loss of MRNIP causes resistance to Gemcitabine but sensitises certain cancer cell lines to Olaparib treatment. Survival assays completed during this project confirm these findings, and assays assessing DNA damage markers suggest a protective role for MRNIP. The findings demonstrate that MRNIP status alters chemosensitivity in a lesion specific manner and suggests that a more in-depth study of the role of MRNIP in cancer is warranted. Due to time constraints of the project, there are many future experiments that were not able to be completed, which would be beneficial to further the understanding of MRNIP function. One of the main areas to explore would be to assess the role of repriming in the cellular response to Gemcitabine. To combat the unreliability of MTT assays faced during this project, confirmation of the results via clonogenic survival assays would be an important factor. Many of the experiments conducted also require confirmation, which would increase their reliability and credibility. Another direction of the project would be to explore the phosphorylation of MRNIP S217 in more detail, and the role of the MRNIP kinase in regulating the replication stress and DNA damage responses.

## 6. References

- Agrawal, R. K., Patel, R. K., Shah, V., Nainiwal, L., & Trivedi, B. (2014). Hydroxyurea in Sickle Cell Disease: Drug Review. *Indian Journal of Hematology & Blood Transfusion*, *30*(2), 91. https://doi.org/10.1007/S12288-013-0261-4
- Amjad, M., Chidharla, A., & Kasi, A. (2023). Cancer Chemotherapy. *Fundamentals of Pharmaceutical Nanoscience*, 401–427. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-9164-4\_15
- Bainbridge, L. J., Teague, R., & Doherty, A. J. (2021). Repriming DNA synthesis: an intrinsic restart pathway that maintains efficient genome replication. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 49(9), 4831. https://doi.org/10.1093/NAR/GKAB176
- Barros, E. M., McIntosh, S. A., & Savage, K. I. (2022). The DNA damage induced immune response: Implications for cancer therapy. *DNA Repair*, 120, 103409. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.DNAREP.2022.103409
- Basu, A. K. (2018). DNA Damage, Mutagenesis and Cancer. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, *19*(4). https://doi.org/10.3390/IJMS19040970
- Bellí, G., Colomina, N., Castells-Roca, L., & Lorite, N. P. (2022). Post-Translational Modifications of PCNA: Guiding for the Best DNA Damage Tolerance Choice. *Journal of Fungi*, 8(6). https://doi.org/10.3390/JOF8060621
- Bennett, L. G., Wilkie, A. M., Antonopoulou, E., Ceppi, I., Sanchez, A., Vernon, E. G., Gamble, A.,
  Myers, K. N., Collis, S. J., Cejka, P., & Staples, C. J. (2020). MRNIP is a replication fork protection factor. *Science Advances*, 6(28).
  https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIADV.ABA5974/SUPPL\_FILE/ABA5974\_SM.PDF

- Berti, M., Cortez, D., & Lopes, M. (2020). The plasticity of DNA replication forks in response to clinically relevant genotoxic stress. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology 2020 21:10, 21*(10), 633–651. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41580-020-0257-5
- Boeckemeier, L., Kraehenbuehl, R., Kraehenbuehl, R., Keszthelyi, A., Keszthelyi, A., Gasasira, M. U., Vernon, E. G., Beardmore, R., Vagbo, C. B., Chaplin, D., Gollins, S., Krokan, H. E., Lambert, S. A. E., Paizs, B., & Hartsuiker, E. (2020). Mre11 exonuclease activity removes the chain-terminating nucleoside analog gemcitabine from the nascent strand during DNA replication. *Science Advances*, *6*(22). https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIADV.AAZ4126
- Branzei, D., & Psakhye, I. (2016). DNA damage tolerance. *Current Opinion in Cell Biology*, 40, 137–144. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CEB.2016.03.015
- Branzei, D., & Szakal, B. (2016). DNA damage tolerance by recombination: Molecular pathways and DNA structures. *DNA Repair*, *44*, 68. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.DNAREP.2016.05.008
- Bruin, M. A. C., Sonke, G. S., Beijnen, J. H., & Huitema, A. D. R. (2022). Pharmacokinetics and Pharmacodynamics of PARP Inhibitors in Oncology. *Clinical Pharmacokinetics*, 61(12), 1649. https://doi.org/10.1007/S40262-022-01167-6
- Bryant, H. E., Schultz, N., Thomas, H. D., Parker, K. M., Flower, D., Lopez, E., Kyle, S., Meuth, M., Curtin, N. J., & Helleday, T. (2005). Specific killing of BRCA2-deficient tumours with inhibitors of poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase. *Nature 2005 434:7035*, *434*(7035), 913–917. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature03443
- Carusillo, A., & Mussolino, C. (2020). DNA Damage: From Threat to Treatment. *Cells*, *9*(7). https://doi.org/10.3390/CELLS9071665
- Chatterjee, N., & Walker, G. C. (2017). Mechanisms of DNA damage, repair and mutagenesis. Environmental and Molecular Mutagenesis, 58(5), 235. https://doi.org/10.1002/EM.22087
- Chau, B. N., & Wang, J. Y. J. (2003). Coordinated regulation of life and death by RB. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, *3*(2), 130–138. https://doi.org/10.1038/NRC993
- Chen, D., Gervai, J. Z., Póti, Á., Németh, E., Szeltner, Z., Szikriszt, B., Gyüre, Z., Zámborszky, J., Ceccon, M., d'Adda di Fagagna, F., Szallasi, Z., Richardson, A. L., & Szüts, D. (2022). BRCA1 deficiency specific base substitution mutagenesis is dependent on translesion synthesis and regulated by 53BP1. *Nature Communications*, *13*(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/S41467-021-27872-7
- Chhikara, B. S., & Parang, K. (2010). Development of cytarabine prodrugs and delivery systems for leukemia treatment. *Http://Dx.Doi.Org/10.1517/17425247.2010.527330*, 7(12), 1399–1414. https://doi.org/10.1517/17425247.2010.527330
- Chun, A. C. S., & Jin, D. Y. (2010). Ubiquitin-dependent regulation of translesion polymerases. *Biochemical Society Transactions*, *38*(1), 110–115. https://doi.org/10.1042/BST0380110
- Cinat, D., Coppes, R. P., & Barazzuol, L. (2021). DNA Damage-Induced Inflammatory Microenvironment and Adult Stem Cell Response. *Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology*, 9, 729136. https://doi.org/10.3389/FCELL.2021.729136/BIBTEX

- Cong, K., Peng, M., Kousholt, A. N., Lee, W. T. C., Lee, S., Nayak, S., Krais, J., VanderVere-Carozza, P. S., Pawelczak, K. S., Calvo, J., Panzarino, N. J., Turchi, J. J., Johnson, N., Jonkers, J., Rothenberg, E., & Cantor, S. B. (2021). Replication gaps are a key determinant of PARP inhibitor synthetic lethality with BRCA deficiency. *Molecular Cell*, *81*(15), 3128-3144.e7. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MOLCEL.2021.06.011/ATTACHMENT/6ACB4EAB-D7F9-40C7-96AA-E754C71F8B86/MMC1.PDF
- Correa, H. (2016). Hereditary Cancer Syndromes in Children: Li–Fraumeni Syndrome. *Journal of Pediatric Genetics*, *5*(2), 84. https://doi.org/10.1055/S-0036-1579759
- Cortesi, L., Rugo, H. S., & Jackisch, C. (2021). An Overview of PARP Inhibitors for the Treatment of Breast Cancer. *Targeted Oncology*, *16*(3), 255. https://doi.org/10.1007/S11523-021-00796-4
- Cortez, D. (2019). Replication-coupled DNA Repair. *Molecular Cell*, 74(5), 866. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MOLCEL.2019.04.027
- Dasari, S., & Bernard Tchounwou, P. (2014). Cisplatin in cancer therapy: molecular mechanisms of action. *European Journal of Pharmacology*, 740, 364. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.EJPHAR.2014.07.025
- De Sousa Cavalcante, L., & Monteiro, G. (2014). Gemcitabine: Metabolism and molecular mechanisms of action, sensitivity and chemoresistance in pancreatic cancer. *European Journal of Pharmacology*, 741, 8–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.EJPHAR.2014.07.041
- De Voer, R. M., Hahn, M. M., Mensenkamp, A. R., Hoischen, A., Gilissen, C., Henkes, A., Spruijt, L., Van Zelst-Stams, W. A., Marleen Kets, C., Verwiel, E. T., Nagtegaal, I. D., Schackert, H. K., Van Kessel, A. G., Hoogerbrugge, N., Ligtenberg, M. J. L., & Kuiper, R. P. (2015). Deleterious Germline BLM Mutations and the Risk for Early-onset Colorectal Cancer. *Scientific Reports*, *5*. https://doi.org/10.1038/SREP14060
- Derissen, E. J. B., Huitema, A. D. R., Rosing, H., Schellens, J. H. M., & Beijnen, J. H. (2018). Intracellular pharmacokinetics of gemcitabine, its deaminated metabolite 2',2'-difluorodeoxyuridine and their nucleotides. *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 84(6), 1279–1289. https://doi.org/10.1111/BCP.13557
- DeVita, V. T., & Chu, E. (2008). A History of Cancer Chemotherapy. *Cancer Research, 68*(21), 8643– 8653. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-6611
- Dewar, J. M., & Walter, J. C. (2017). Mechanisms of DNA replication termination. *Nature Reviews. Molecular Cell Biology*, *18*(8), 507. https://doi.org/10.1038/NRM.2017.42
- Díaz-Talavera, A., Montero-Conde, C., Leandro-García, L. J., & Robledo, M. (2022). PrimPol: A Breakthrough among DNA Replication Enzymes and a Potential New Target for Cancer Therapy. *Biomolecules*, 12(2). https://doi.org/10.3390/BIOM12020248
- Dittmer, D., Pati, S., Zambetti, G., Chu, S., Teresky, A. K., Moore, M., Finlay, C., & Levine, A. J. (1993). Gain of function mutations in p53. *Nature Genetics 1993 4:1, 4*(1), 42–46. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng0593-42

- Ekundayo, B., & Bleichert, F. (2019). Origins of DNA replication. *PLoS Genetics*, 15(9). https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PGEN.1008320
- El-Khamisy, S. F., Masutani, M., Suzuki, H., & Caldecott, K. W. (2003). A requirement for PARP-1 for the assembly or stability of XRCC1 nuclear foci at sites of oxidative DNA damage. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 31(19), 5526. https://doi.org/10.1093/NAR/GKG761
- Farmer, H., McCabe, H., Lord, C. J., Tutt, A. H. J., Johnson, D. A., Richardson, T. B., Santarosa, M., Dillon, K. J., Hickson, I., Knights, C., Martin, N. M. B., Jackson, S. P., Smith, G. C. M., & Ashworth, A. (2005). Targeting the DNA repair defect in BRCA mutant cells as a therapeutic strategy. *Nature*, 434(7035), 917–921. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature03445
- Faruqi, A., & Tadi, P. (2022). Cytarabine. *The Comprehensive Pharmacology Reference*, 1–5. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-008055232-3.61536-3
- Ferlay, J., Steliarova-Foucher, E., Lortet-Tieulent, J., Rosso, S., Coebergh, J. W. W., Comber, H., Forman, D., & Bray, F. (2013). Cancer incidence and mortality patterns in Europe: Estimates for 40 countries in 2012. *European Journal of Cancer*, 49(6), 1374–1403. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.EJCA.2012.12.027
- Fishel, R. (2015). Mismatch Repair. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 290(44), 26395. https://doi.org/10.1074/JBC.R115.660142
- Fugger, K., Mistrik, M., Neelsen, K. J., Yao, Q., Zellweger, R., Kousholt, A. N., Haahr, P., Chu, W. K., Bartek, J., Lopes, M., Hickson, I. D., & Sørensen, C. S. (2015). FBH1 Catalyzes Regression of Stalled Replication Forks. *Cell Reports*, *10*(10), 1749–1757. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CELREP.2015.02.028
- Gaillard, H., García-Muse, T., & Aguilera, A. (2015). Replication stress and cancer. *Nature Reviews Cancer 2015 15:5*, *15*(5), 276–289. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc3916
- Gao, Y., Tateishi, S., & Vaziri, C. (2016). Pathological trans-lesion synthesis in cancer. *Cell Cycle*, *15*(22), 3005. https://doi.org/10.1080/15384101.2016.1214045
- Gilbertson, R. J. (2011). Mapping cancer origins. *Cell*, *145*(1), 25. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CELL.2011.03.019
- Goulooze, S. C., Cohen, A. F., & Rissmann, R. (2016). Olaparib. *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, *81*(1), 171. https://doi.org/10.1111/BCP.12761
- Guilliam, T. A., Jozwiakowski, S. K., Ehlinger, A., Barnes, R. P., Rudd, S. G., Bailey, L. J., Skehel, J. M., Eckert, K. A., Chazin, W. J., & Doherty, A. J. (2015). Human PrimPol is a highly error-prone polymerase regulated by single-stranded DNA binding proteins. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 43(2), 1056. https://doi.org/10.1093/NAR/GKU1321
- Gyüre, Z., Póti, Á., Németh, E., Szikriszt, B., Lózsa, R., Krawczyk, M., Richardson, A. L., & Szüts, D. (2023). Spontaneous mutagenesis in human cells is controlled by REV1-Polymerase ζ and PRIMPOL. *Cell Reports*, 42(8), 112887. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CELREP.2023.112887

- Hanahan, D. (2022). Hallmarks of Cancer: New Dimensions. *Cancer Discovery*, *12*(1), 31–46. https://doi.org/10.1158/2159-8290.CD-21-1059
- Hanahan, D., & Weinberg, R. A. (2000). The Hallmarks of Cancer. *Cell*, *100*(1), 57–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81683-9
- Hanahan, D., & Weinberg, R. A. (2011). Hallmarks of Cancer: The Next Generation. *Cell*, 144(5), 646–674. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CELL.2011.02.013
- Hanssen, A. M. N., & Fryns, J. P. (1995). Cowden syndrome. *Journal of Medical Genetics*, 32(2), 117. https://doi.org/10.1136/JMG.32.2.117
- Hawks, A. L., Bergmann, A., McCraw, T. J., & Mason, J. M. (2023). UBC13-mediated template switching promotes replication stress resistance in FBH1-deficient cells. *BioRxiv : The Preprint Server for Biology*. https://doi.org/10.1101/2023.09.04.556280
- Her, J., & Bunting, S. F. (2018). How cells ensure correct repair of DNA double-strand breaks. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 293(27), 10502. https://doi.org/10.1074/JBC.TM118.000371
- Hopkins, J. L., Lan, L., & Zou, L. (2022). DNA repair defects in cancer and therapeutic opportunities. *Genes & Development*, *36*(5–6), 278. https://doi.org/10.1101/GAD.349431.122
- Hosoya, N., & Miyagawa, K. (2014). Targeting DNA damage response in cancer therapy. *Cancer Science*, *105*(4), 370. https://doi.org/10.1111/CAS.12366
- Hübscher, U. (2009). DNA replication fork proteins. *Methods in Molecular Biology*, *521*, 19–33. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-60327-815-7\_2/FIGURES/2\_2
- Igarashi, M., & Okuda, S. (2019). Evolutionary analysis of proline-directed phosphorylation sites in the mammalian growth cone identified using phosphoproteomics. *Molecular Brain*, 12(1), 1–3. https://doi.org/10.1186/S13041-019-0476-X/FIGURES/1
- Jackson, S. P. (1995). Cancer Predisposition: Ataxia–telangiectasia at the crossroads. *Current Biology*, 5(11), 1210–1212. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0960-9822(95)00238-7
- Jackson, S. P., & Bartek, J. (2009). The DNA-damage response in human biology and disease. *Nature*, *461*(7267), 1071. https://doi.org/10.1038/NATURE08467
- Javle, M., & Curtin, N. J. (2011). The role of PARP in DNA repair and its therapeutic exploitation. British Journal of Cancer, 105(8), 1114. https://doi.org/10.1038/BJC.2011.382
- Jones, R. M., Kotsantis, P., Stewart, G. S., Groth, P., & Petermann, E. (2014). BRCA2 and RAD51 promote double-strand break formation and cell death in response to gemcitabine. *Molecular Cancer Therapeutics*, 13(10), 2412–2421. https://doi.org/10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-13-0862/85897/AM/BRCA2-AND-RAD51-PROMOTE-DOUBLE-STRAND-BREAK
- Jounai, N., Kobiyama, K., Takeshita, F., & Ishii, K. J. (2012). Recognition of damage-associated molecular patterns related to nucleic acids during inflammation and vaccination. *Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology*, 2(JAN). https://doi.org/10.3389/FCIMB.2012.00168

- Kazi, S., Castañeda, J. M., Savolainen, A., Xu, Y., Liu, N., Qiao, H., Ramirez-Solis, R., Nozawa, K., Yu, Z., Matzuk, M. M., & Prunskaite-Hyyryläinen, R. (2022). MRNIP interacts with sex body chromatin to support meiotic progression, spermatogenesis, and male fertility in mice. *The FASEB Journal*, 36(9), 22479. https://doi.org/10.1096/FJ.202101168RR
- Keen, B. A., Jozwiakowski, S. K., Bailey, L. J., Bianchi, J., & Doherty, A. J. (2014). Molecular dissection of the domain architecture and catalytic activities of human PrimPol. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 42(9), 5830. https://doi.org/10.1093/NAR/GKU214
- Kim, J. J., Lee, S. Y., Choi, J. H., Woo, H. G., Xhemalce, B., & Miller, K. M. (2020). PCAF-mediated histone acetylation promotes replication fork degradation by MRE11 and EXO1 in BRCAdeficient cells. *Molecular Cell*, 80(2), 327. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MOLCEL.2020.08.018
- Kinase Prediction. (n.d.). Retrieved April 8, 2024, from https://www.phosphosite.org/kinaseLibraryAction.action
- Kobayashi, K., Guilliam, T. A., Tsuda, M., Yamamoto, J., Bailey, L. J., Iwai, S., Takeda, S., Doherty, A. J., & Hirota, K. (2016). Repriming by PrimPol is critical for DNA replication restart downstream of lesions and chain-terminating nucleosides. *Cell Cycle*, *15*(15), 1997. https://doi.org/10.1080/15384101.2016.1191711
- Kohn, K. W., Aladjem, M. I., Weinstein, J. N., & Pommier, Y. (2009). Network architecture of signaling from uncoupled helicase-polymerase to cell cycle checkpoints and trans-lesion DNA synthesis. *Cell Cycle (Georgetown, Tex.)*, 8(14), 2281. https://doi.org/10.4161/CC.8.14.9102
- Kottemann, M. C., & Smogorzewska, A. (2013). Fanconi anemia and the repair of Watson and Crick crosslinks. *Nature*, 493(7432), 356. https://doi.org/10.1038/NATURE11863
- Krokan, H. E., & Bjørås, M. (2013). Base Excision Repair. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology*, 5(4), 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1101/CSHPERSPECT.A012583
- Kuo, L. J., & Yang, L. X. (2008). γ-H2AX A Novel Biomarker for DNA Double-strand Breaks. In Vivo, 22(3), 305–309. https://iv.iiarjournals.org/content/22/3/305
- Lane, D. P., & Lain, S. (2002). Therapeutic exploitation of the p53 pathway. *Trends in Molecular Medicine*, 8(4 SUPPL.), S38–S42. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1471-4914(02)02309-2
- Lech-Maranda, E., Korycka, A., & Robak, T. (2009). Clofarabine as a Novel Nucleoside Analogue Approved to Treat Patients with Haematological Malignancies: Mechanism of Action and Clinical Activity. *Mini-Reviews in Medicinal Chemistry*, 9(7), 805–812. https://doi.org/10.2174/138955709788452586
- Ledet, E. M., Antonarakis, E. S., Isaacs, W. B., Lotan, T. L., Pritchard, C., & Sartor, A. O. (2020). Germline BLM mutations and metastatic prostate cancer. *The Prostate*, *80*(2), 235. https://doi.org/10.1002/PROS.23924
- Lenz, G., Hiddemann, W., & Dreyling, M. (2004). The role of fludarabine in the treatment of follicular and mantle cell lymphoma. *Cancer*, 101(5), 883–893. https://doi.org/10.1002/CNCR.20483

- Ler, A. A. L., & Carty, M. P. (2022). DNA Damage Tolerance Pathways in Human Cells: A Potential Therapeutic Target. *Frontiers in Oncology*, *11*, 822500. https://doi.org/10.3389/FONC.2021.822500/BIBTEX
- Lewis, C. E., & Hughes, R. (2007). Inflammation and breast cancer. Microenvironmental factors regulating macrophage function in breast tumours: hypoxia and angiopoietin-2. *Breast Cancer Research*, 9(3), 209. https://doi.org/10.1186/BCR1679
- Lin, M., Lv, J., Zhao, D., Liu, S., Xu, J., Wu, Y., Wang, F., Zhang, J., Zheng, B., Shen, C., Guan, X., Yu, J., & Huang, X. (2021). MRNIP is essential for meiotic progression and spermatogenesis in mice. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 550, 127–133. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BBRC.2021.02.143
- Lord, C. J., & Ashworth, A. (2017). PARP Inhibitors: The First Synthetic Lethal Targeted Therapy. *Science*, *355*(6330), 1152. https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.AAM7344
- Löwenberg, B., Pabst, T., Vellenga, E., van Putten, W., Schouten, H. C., Graux, C., Ferrant, A., Sonneveld, P., Biemond, B. J., Gratwohl, A., de Greef, G. E., Verdonck, L. F., Schaafsma, M. R., Gregor, M., Theobald, M., Schanz, U., Maertens, J., & Ossenkoppele, G. J. (2011). Cytarabine Dose for Acute Myeloid Leukemia. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *364*(11), 1027–1036. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMOA1010222/SUPPL\_FILE/NEJMOA1010222\_DISCLOSURES.PDF
- Makovec, T. (2019). Cisplatin and Beyond: Molecular Mechanisms of Action and Drug Resistance Development in Cancer Chemotherapy. *Radiology and Oncology*, *53*(2), 148. https://doi.org/10.2478/RAON-2019-0018
- Mantovani, F., Collavin, L., & Del Sal, G. (2019). Mutant p53 as a guardian of the cancer cell. *Cell Death and Differentiation*, *26*(2), 199. https://doi.org/10.1038/S41418-018-0246-9
- Marcogliese, A. N., & Yee, D. L. (2017). Hematology: Basic Principles and Practice. *Hematology: Basic Principles and Practice*, 1–2374. https://doi.org/10.1016/C2013-0-23355-9
- Maslov, A. Y., & Vijg, J. (2009). Genome instability, cancer and aging. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, *1790*(10), 963. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BBAGEN.2009.03.020
- Mateo, J., Lord, C. J., Serra, V., Tutt, A., Balmaña, J., Castroviejo-Bermejo, M., Cruz, C., Oaknin, A.,
   Kaye, S. B., & De Bono, J. S. (2019). A decade of clinical development of PARP inhibitors in perspective. *Annals of Oncology*, *30*(9), 1437. https://doi.org/10.1093/ANNONC/MDZ192
- McNairn, A. J., Chuang, C. H., Bloom, J. C., Wallace, M. D., & Schimenti, J. C. (2019). Female-biased embryonic death from inflammation induced by genomic instability. *Nature 2019 567:7746*, *567*(7746), 105–108. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-0936-6
- Miao, H., Chen, X., & Luan, Y. (2019). Small Molecular Gemcitabine Prodrugs for Cancer Therapy. *Current Medicinal Chemistry*, 27(33), 5562–5582. https://doi.org/10.2174/0929867326666190816230650

- Mills, J., & Allison, N. (1990). A rapid, quantitative microplate assay for NAD-linked D-mannitol dehydrogenase. *Letters in Applied Microbiology*, 11(4), 211–213. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1472-765X.1990.TB00163.X
- Moore, A. R., Rosenberg, S. C., McCormick, F., & Malek, S. (2020). RAS-targeted therapies: is the undruggable drugged? *Nature Reviews. Drug Discovery*, 19(8), 533. https://doi.org/10.1038/S41573-020-0068-6
- Moore, C. E., Yalcindag, S. E., Czeladko, H., Ravindranathan, R., Hanthi, Y. W., Levy, J. C., Sannino, V., Schindler, D., Ciccia, A., Costanzo, V., & Elia, A. E. H. (2023). RFWD3 promotes ZRANB3 recruitment to regulate the remodeling of stalled replication forks. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, 222(5). https://doi.org/10.1083/JCB.202106022
- Moreno, S. P., & Gambus, A. (2020). Mechanisms of eukaryotic replisome disassembly. *Biochemical Society Transactions*, *48*(3), 823–836. https://doi.org/10.1042/BST20190363
- Murai, J., Huang, S. Y. N., Das, B. B., Renaud, A., Zhang, Y., Doroshow, J. H., Ji, J., Takeda, S., & Pommier, Y. (2012). Differential trapping of PARP1 and PARP2 by clinical PARP inhibitors. *Cancer Research*, *72*(21), 5588. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-2753
- Navas, L. E., & Carnero, A. (2021). NAD+ metabolism, stemness, the immune response, and cancer. *Signal Transduction and Targeted Therapy*, 6(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/S41392-020-00354-W
- Nepal, M., Che, R., Zhang, J., Ma, C., & Fei, P. (2017). Fanconi Anemia Signaling and Cancer. *Trends in Cancer*, *3*(12), 840. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TRECAN.2017.10.005
- Nosseri, C., Coppola, S., & Ghibelli, L. (1994). Possible Involvement of Poly(ADP-Ribosyl) Polymerase in Triggering Stress-Induced Apoptosis. *Experimental Cell Research*, *212*(2), 367–373. https://doi.org/10.1006/EXCR.1994.1156
- Oh, J., & Symington, L. S. (2018). Role of the Mre11 Complex in Preserving Genome Integrity. *Genes*, *9*(12). https://doi.org/10.3390/GENES9120589
- Orhan, E., Velazquez, C., Tabet, I., Sardet, C., & Theillet, C. (2021). Regulation of rad51 at the transcriptional and functional levels: What prospects for cancer therapy? *Cancers*, *13*(12), 2930. https://doi.org/10.3390/CANCERS13122930/S1
- Pabla, N., & Dong, Z. (2008). Cisplatin nephrotoxicity: Mechanisms and renoprotective strategies. *Kidney International*, 73(9), 994–1007. https://doi.org/10.1038/SJ.KI.5002786
- Pandit, B., & Royzen, M. (2022). Recent Development of Prodrugs of Gemcitabine. *Genes*, *13*(3). https://doi.org/10.3390/GENES13030466
- Panebianco, C., Trivieri, N., Villani, A., Terracciano, F., Latiano, T. P., Potenza, A., Perri, F., Binda, E., & Pazienza, V. (2021). Improving gemcitabine sensitivity in pancreatic cancer cells by restoring mirna-217 levels. *Biomolecules*, *11*(5). https://doi.org/10.3390/BIOM11050639/S1
- Panzarino, N. J., Krais, J. J., Cong, K., Peng, M., Mosqueda, M., Nayak, S. U., Bond, S. M., Calvo, J. A., Doshi, M. B., Bere, M., Ou, J., Deng, B., Zhu, L. J., Johnson, N., & Cantor, S. B. (2021). Replication

gaps underlie BRCA deficiency and therapy response. *Cancer Research*, *81*(5), 1388–1397. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-20-1602/662498/AM/REPLICATION-GAPS-UNDERLIE-BRCA-DEFICIENCY-AND

- Pascal, J. M. (2018). The comings and goings of PARP-1 in response to DNA damage. *DNA Repair*, 71, 177. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.DNAREP.2018.08.022
- Paul, A., & Paul, S. (2014). The breast cancer susceptibility genes (BRCA) in breast and ovarian cancers. *Frontiers in Bioscience (Landmark Edition)*, *19*(4), 605. https://doi.org/10.2741/4230
- Pelech, S. L. (1995). Networking with proline-directed protein kinases implicated in Tau phosphorylation. *Neurobiology of Aging*, *16*(3), 247–256. https://doi.org/10.1016/0197-4580(94)00187-6
- Perrino, M., Cooke-Barber, J., Dasgupta, R., & Geller, J. I. (2019). Genetic predisposition to cancer: Surveillance and intervention. *Seminars in Pediatric Surgery*, 28(6), 150858. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SEMPEDSURG.2019.150858
- Poole, L. A., & Cortez, D. (2017). Functions of SMARCAL1, ZRANB3, and HLTF in maintaining genome stability. *Critical Reviews in Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, 52(6), 696. https://doi.org/10.1080/10409238.2017.1380597
- Prior, I. A., Hood, F. E., & Hartley, J. L. (2020). The frequency of Ras mutations in cancer. *Cancer Research*, *80*(14), 2969. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-19-3682
- Qiu, S., Jiang, G., Cao, L., & Huang, J. (2021). Replication Fork Reversal and Protection. *Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology*, *9*. https://doi.org/10.3389/FCELL.2021.670392
- Quinet, A., Tirman, S., Jackson, J., Šviković, S., Lemaçon, D., Carvajal-Maldonado, D., González-Acosta, D., Vessoni, A. T., Cybulla, E., Wood, M., Tavis, S., Batista, L. F. Z., Méndez, J., Sale, J. E., & Vindigni, A. (2020). PRIMPOL-Mediated Adaptive Response Suppresses Replication Fork Reversal in BRCA-Deficient Cells. *Molecular Cell*, 77(3), 461. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MOLCEL.2019.10.008
- Robak, T., Korycka, A., Ewa, L. M., & Robak, P. (2009). Current Status of Older and New Purine Nucleoside Analogues in the Treatment of Lymphoproliferative Diseases. *Molecules*, 14(3), 1183. https://doi.org/10.3390/MOLECULES14031183
- Rodier, F., Coppé, J. P., Patil, C. K., Hoeijmakers, W. A. M., Muñoz, D. P., Raza, S. R., Freund, A., Campeau, E., Davalos, A. R., & Campisi, J. (2009). Persistent DNA damage signaling triggers senescence-associated inflammatory cytokine secretion. *Nature Cell Biology*, *11*(8), 973. https://doi.org/10.1038/NCB1909
- Rodriguez, G. (1994). Fludarabine phosphate. *Investigational New Drugs*, *12*(2), 75–92. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00874436/METRICS
- Rossing, M., Sørensen, C. S., Ejlertsen, B., & Nielsen, F. C. (2019). Whole genome sequencing of breast cancer. *Apmis*, *127*(5), 303. https://doi.org/10.1111/APM.12920

- Rothblum-Oviatt, C., Wright, J., Lefton-Greif, M. A., McGrath-Morrow, S. A., Crawford, T. O., & Lederman, H. M. (2016). Ataxia telangiectasia: a review. *Orphanet Journal of Rare Diseases*, *11*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/S13023-016-0543-7
- Saxena, S., & Zou, L. (2022). Hallmarks of DNA replication stress. *Molecular Cell*, 82(12), 2298–2314. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MOLCEL.2022.05.004
- Schärer, O. D. (2013). Nucleotide Excision Repair in Eukaryotes. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology*, *5*(10). https://doi.org/10.1101/CSHPERSPECT.A012609
- Schayek, H., Laitman, Y., Katz, L., Pras, E., Ries-Lavavi, L., Barak, F., & Freidman, E. (2017). Colorectal and Endometrial Cancer Risk and Age at Diagnosis in BLMAsh Mutation Carriers - PubMed. *The Israel Medical Association Journal*, 19(6), 365–367. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28647934/
- Seth, S., Ager, A., Arends, M. J., & Frayling, I. M. (2018). Lynch syndrome cancer pathways, heterogeneity and immune escape. *The Journal of Pathology*, 246(2), 129–133. https://doi.org/10.1002/PATH.5139
- Shao, Z., Lee, B. J., Zhang, H., Lin, X., Li, C., Jiang, W., Chirathivat, N., Gershik, S., Shen, M. M., Baer, R., & Zha, S. (2023). Inactive PARP1 causes embryonic lethality and genome instability in a dominant-negative manner. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *120*(31), e2301972120. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.2301972120/SUPPL\_FILE/PNAS.2301972120.SAPP.PDF
- Shepshelovich, D., Edel, Y., Goldvaser, H., Dujovny, T., Wolach, O., & Raanani, P. (2015).
   Pharmacodynamics of cytarabine induced leucopenia: a retrospective cohort study. *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, *79*(4), 685. https://doi.org/10.1111/BCP.12530
- Shockett, P., & Stavnezer, J. (1993). Inhibitors of poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase increase antibody class switching. *The Journal of Immunology*, 151(12), 6962–6976. https://doi.org/10.4049/JIMMUNOL.151.12.6962
- Siegel Mph, R. L., Miller, K. D., Sandeep, N., Mbbs, W., Ahmedin, |, Dvm, J., & Siegel, R. L. (2023). Cancer statistics, 2023. CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians, 73(1), 17–48. https://doi.org/10.3322/CAAC.21763
- Simoneau, A., Xiong, R., & Zou, L. (2021). The trans cell cycle effects of PARP inhibitors underlie their selectivity toward BRCA1/2-deficient cells. *Genes and Development*, 35(17–18), 1271–1289. https://doi.org/10.1101/GAD.348479.121/-/DC1
- Staples, C. J., Barone, G., Myers, K. N., Ganesh, A., Gibbs-Seymour, I., Patil, A. A., Beveridge, R. D., Daye, C., Beniston, R., Maslen, S., Ahel, I., Skehel, J. M., & Collis, S. J. (2016). MRNIP/C5orf45
  Interacts with the MRN Complex and Contributes to the DNA Damage Response. *Cell Reports*, 16(10), 2565. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CELREP.2016.07.087
- Surin, A. M., Sharipov, R. R., Krasil'nikova, I. A., Boyarkin, D. P., Lisina, O. Y., Gorbacheva, L. R., Avetisyan, A. V., & Pinelis, V. G. (2017). Disruption of functional activity of mitochondria during

MTT assay of viability of cultured neurons. *Biochemistry (Moscow), 82*(6), 737–749. https://doi.org/10.1134/S0006297917060104/METRICS

- Taglialatela, A., Leuzzi, G., Sannino, V., Cuella-Martin, R., Huang, J. W., Wu-Baer, F., Baer, R., Costanzo, V., & Ciccia, A. (2021). REV1-Polζ maintains the viability of homologous recombination-deficient cancer cells through mutagenic repair of PRIMPOL-dependent ssDNA gaps. *Molecular Cell*, *81*(19), 4008. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MOLCEL.2021.08.016
- Thompson, D., Duedal, S., Kirner, J., McGuffog, L., Last, J., Reiman, A., Byrd, P., Taylor, M., & Easton, D. F. (2005). Cancer risks and mortality in heterozygous ATM mutation carriers. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 97(11), 813–822. https://doi.org/10.1093/JNCI/DJI141
- Tian, T., Bu, M., Chen, X., Ding, L., Yang, Y., Han, J., Feng, X. H., Xu, P., Liu, T., Ying, S., Lei, Y., Li, Q., & Huang, J. (2021). The ZATT-TOP2A-PICH Axis Drives Extensive Replication Fork Reversal to Promote Genome Stability. *Molecular Cell*, *81*(1), 198-211.e6. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MOLCEL.2020.11.007
- Tiley, S., & Claxton, D. (2012). Clofarabine in the treatment of acute myeloid leukemia in older adults. *Sage*, *4*(1), 5–13. https://doi.org/10.1177/2040620712461666
- Tirman, S., Cybulla, E., Quinet, A., Meroni, A., & Vindigni, A. (2021). PRIMPOL ready, set, reprime! Critical Reviews in Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, 56(1), 17. https://doi.org/10.1080/10409238.2020.1841089
- Tirman, S., Quinet, A., Wood, M., Meroni, A., Cybulla, E., Jackson, J., Pegoraro, S., Simoneau, A., Zou, L., & Vindigni, A. (2021). Temporally distinct post-replicative repair mechanisms fill PRIMPOLdependent ssDNA gaps in human cells. *Molecular Cell*, 81(19), 4026. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MOLCEL.2021.09.013
- Tokarsky, E. J., Wallenmeyer, P. C., Phi, K. K., & Suo, Z. (2017). Significant impact of divalent metal ions on the fidelity, sugar selectivity, and drug incorporation efficiency of human PrimPol. DNA Repair, 49, 51. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.DNAREP.2016.11.003
- Torre, L. A., Bray, F., Siegel, R. L., Ferlay, J., Lortet-Tieulent, J., & Jemal, A. (2015). Global cancer statistics, 2012. CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians, 65(2), 87–108. https://doi.org/10.3322/CAAC.21262
- Tubbs, A., & Nussenzweig, A. (2017). Endogenous DNA Damage as a Source of Genomic Instability in Cancer. *Cell*, *168*(4), 644. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CELL.2017.01.002
- van Wietmarschen, N., & Nussenzweig, A. (2018). Mechanism for Synthetic Lethality in BRCA-Deficient Cancers: No Longer Lagging Behind. *Molecular Cell*, 71(6), 877. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MOLCEL.2018.08.045
- Varol, U., Kucukzeybek, Y., Alacacioglu, A., Somali, I., Altun, Z., Aktas, S., & Tarhan, M. (2018). BRCA genes: BRCA 1 and BRCA 2. *Journal of Balkan Union of Oncology*, 23(4), 862–866. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30358186/

- Wan, L., Lou, J., Xia, Y., Su, B., Liu, T., Cui, J., Sun, Y., Lou, H., & Huang, J. (2013). hPrimpol1/CCDC111 is a human DNA primase-polymerase required for the maintenance of genome integrity. *EMBO Reports*, 14(12), 1104. https://doi.org/10.1038/EMBOR.2013.159
- Wang, L., Wang, D., Sonzogni, O., Ke, S., Wang, Q., Thavamani, A., Batalini, F., Stopka, S. A., Regan, M. S., Vandal, S., Tian, S., Pinto, J., Cyr, A. M., Bret-Mounet, V. C., Baquer, G., Eikesdal, H. P., Yuan, M., Asara, J. M., Heng, Y. J., ... Wulf, G. M. (2022). PARP-inhibition reprograms macrophages toward an anti-tumor phenotype. *Cell Reports*, *41*(2). https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CELREP.2022.111462
- Wang, Y. L., Zhao, W. W., Bai, S. M., Feng, L. L., Bie, S. Y., Gong, L., Wang, F., Wei, M. B., Feng, W. X., Pang, X. L., Qin, C. L., Yin, X. K., Wang, Y. N., Zhou, W., Wahl, D. R., Liu, Q., Chen, M., Hung, M. C., & Wan, X. B. (2022). MRNIP condensates promote DNA double-strand break sensing and end resection. *Nature Communications*, *13*(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/S41467-022-30303-W
- Wassing, I. E., & Esashi, F. (2021). RAD51: Beyond the break. *Seminars in Cell & Developmental Biology*, *113*, 46. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SEMCDB.2020.08.010
- Woodward, E. R., & Meyer, S. (2021). Fanconi Anaemia, Childhood Cancer and the BRCA Genes. *Genes*, *12*(10), 1520. https://doi.org/10.3390/GENES12101520
- Wright, W. D., Shah, S. S., & Heyer, W. D. (2018). Homologous recombination and the repair of DNA double-strand breaks. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 293(27), 10535. https://doi.org/10.1074/JBC.TM118.000372
- Wu, M., & Krishnamurthy, K. (2022). Peutz-Jeghers Syndrome. *StatPearls*. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK535357/
- Yamamoto, H., & Hirasawa, A. (2022). Homologous Recombination Deficiencies and Hereditary Tumors. International Journal of Molecular Sciences, 23(1), 348. https://doi.org/10.3390/IJMS23010348
- Yang, L., Shi, T., Liu, F., Ren, C., Wang, Z., Li, Y., Tu, X., Yang, G., & Cheng, X. (2015). REV3L, a Promising Target in Regulating the Chemosensitivity of Cervical Cancer Cells. *PLoS ONE*, *10*(3). https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0120334
- Yehia, L., & Eng, C. (2021). PTEN Hamartoma Tumor Syndrome. *Gene Reviews*, 87–100. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-28103-2\_7
- Zellweger, R., Dalcher, D., Mutreja, K., Berti, M., Schmid, J. A., Herrador, R., Vindigni, A., & Lopes, M. (2015). Rad51-mediated replication fork reversal is a global response to genotoxic treatments in human cells. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, 208(5), 563. https://doi.org/10.1083/JCB.201406099
- Zeman, M. K., & Cimprich, K. A. (2014). Causes and Consequences of Replication Stress. *Nature Cell Biology*, *16*(1), 2. https://doi.org/10.1038/NCB2897
- Zeng, S., Lan, B., Ren, X., Zhang, S., Schreyer, D., Eckstein, M., Yang, H., Britzen-Laurent, N., Dahl, A.,
   Mukhopadhyay, D., Chang, D., Kutschick, I., Pfeffer, S., Bailey, P., Biankin, A., Grützmann, R., &
   Pilarsky, C. (2022). CDK7 inhibition augments response to multidrug chemotherapy in
pancreatic cancer. *Journal of Experimental & Clinical Cancer Research : CR, 41*(1), 241. https://doi.org/10.1186/S13046-022-02443-W

- Zhang, C., Liu, J., Xu, D., Zhang, T., Hu, W., & Feng, Z. (2020). Gain-of-function mutant p53 in cancer progression and therapy. *Journal of Molecular Cell Biology*, 12(9), 687. https://doi.org/10.1093/JMCB/MJAA040
- Zhang, T., Rawal, Y., Jiang, H., Kwon, Y., Sung, P., & Greenberg, R. A. (2023). Break-induced replication orchestrates resection-dependent template switching. *Nature 2023 619:7968*, 619(7968), 201–208. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-023-06177-3
- Zhao, B., Rothenberg, E., Ramsden, D. A., & Lieber, M. R. (2020). The molecular basis and disease relevance of non-homologous DNA end joining. *Nature Reviews. Molecular Cell Biology*, 21(12), 781. https://doi.org/10.1038/S41580-020-00297-8
- Zhenchuk, A., Lotfi, K., Juliusson, G., & Albertioni, F. (2009). Mechanisms of anti-cancer action and pharmacology of clofarabine. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, 78(11), 1351–1359. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BCP.2009.06.094